Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Jocelyn Hong

April 5, 2017

by

Jocelyn Hong

Dr. Kathryn M. Yount Adviser

Department of Sociology

Dr. Kathryn M. Yount Adviser

Dr. Tracy Scott
Committee Member

Dr. Pamela Scully
Committee Member

Ms. Wanda Swan, MA Committee Member

Kathleen Krause, PhD Candidate
Committee Member

By

Jocelyn Hong

Dr. Kathryn M. Yount Adviser

An abstract of
a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences
of Emory University in partial fulfillment
of the requirements of the degree of
Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Department of Sociology

2017

Abstract

The Development and Evaluation of an Intersectional Sexual Violence College Curriculum

By Jocelyn Hong

The present pilot program evaluation sought to determine whether there was a change in pretest and posttest scores for participants of SAPA 201 as well as to determine what aspects of the SAPA 201 curriculum needed to be improved or altered. It was hypothesized that there would be an increase in posttest versus pretest scores for confidence levels related to participants' abilities, skills, and knowledge of content related to sexual violence, racism, intersectionality, 1800s-1960s: Legal and Political History, 1960s-Present: Legal and Political History, or Allyship. It was also hypothesized that there would be a greater change in pretest and posttest scores for participants who had not been SAPA 101 trained prior to SAPA 201 training in comparison to those who had been SAPA 101 trained prior to SAPA 201 training.

Eleven college undergraduate students were recruited to participate in the SAPA 201 curriculum and to take a pretest and posttest questionnaire asking about their demographic information, their confidence levels of their knowledge, skills, and abilities related to racism, sexual violence, allyship, intersectionality, 1800s-1960s, and the 1960s-present. Additionally, participants completed a posttest free-response section where they provided feedback, thoughts, and suggestions regarding the SAPA 201 curriculum. My analysis provided support for the original hypothesis that there was an increase in posttest scores compared to pretest scores, but due to the non-random and small sample size, further research is needed in a larger, probability sample to draw inferences about the effects of the training.

The Development and Evaluation of an Intersectional Sexual Violence College Curriculum

By

Jocelyn Hong

Dr. Kathryn M. Yount Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences
of Emory University in partial fulfillment
of the requirements of the degree of
Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Department of Sociology

2017

Acknowledgements

I would like to take a moment to recognize and acknowledge the extraordinary support and mentorship I received throughout the development, analysis, and write-up of SAPA 201 from Katie Krause, PhD Candidate of Rollins School of Public Health at Emory University. She helped me immensely with the analysis and measurement development of SAPA 201 and more so, she provided me with insight and moral boosts of how to cope with imposter syndrome and how to advocate for my wellbeing and to allow myself permission to struggle. I would also like to thank and acknowledge Wanda Swan, MA, the Director of Emory University's Respect Program—she has been a constant source of inspiration as an embodiment of integrity, kindness, courage, and an example of what it truly means to live your feminism. She has been a mentor, a friend, and an incredible source of energy and wisdom during my time here at Emory and I honestly could not imagine making it through my college career or growing in the ways I have without having known her.

I would also be at fault if I did not recognize the support and assistance from my dear friend, Rhianne McCalip, who read through one too many versions of SAPA 201, my Honors Thesis drafts, and who made brunch for our inaugural SAPA 201 participants as I wrestled with anxiety and final preparations. Additionally, I would like to acknowledge my parents, who have worked tirelessly to make the immense privilege of attending Emory University a possibility for me and who have always been a source of inspiration, courage, and resilience for me—every opportunity I have been presented and blessed with would have been nothing without the late nights, restless weekends, and constant and boundless love they provide to me and our family.

This project is dedicated to all of the queer WOC who came before me and who advocated, organized, and fought for the rights I have today that afforded me the privilege to

receive a college education, have resources for occurrences of violence, and to execute this project. While there are one too many to list and so many more who remain nameless in the vaults of history, they have planted the seeds of change that I am able to benefit from today. Everything I am today would be nothing without the courage, integrity, and perseverance of those who came before me.

This year has been an incredibly trying, yet rewarding one. There is no way any of this would have been possible without the love, support, guidance, and insight from all of these incredible people I have acknowledged above—you all inspire me, encourage me to reach for more, and allow me to dare, to create, and to be kinder to myself. There is no way this acknowledgment even begins to cover the immense growth and support you each have provided me with, so I only can hope that I may one day be able to return the favor to a young woman pursuing a grand, ambitious, and daunting project, and, that I am able to help her see in herself what you all have helped me see in myself. Honors or not, it has been an honor to know and work with all of you and to have the opportunity to develop a SAPA 201 that may hopefully plant the seeds of change and consciousness in future participants.

Table of Contents

Secti	<u>on</u> <u>Pag</u>	<u>se Number(s):</u>
Introduction		1-10
I.	Addressing The Issue of Sexual Violence on College Campuses	(1-2)
II.	An Intersectional Analysis of Sexual Violence	(3-7)
III.	The Sexual Assault Peer Advocates (SAPA) 201 Curriculum	(7-10)
Liter	rature Review and Module Development	10-29
I.	Module 1: Intersectionality and Forms of Oppression	(10-11)
II.	Module 2: History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1800s-1960s)	(11-16)
III.	Module 3: History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1960s-Present)	(16-27)
IV.	Module 4: Summarization and Application of SAPA 201 Part 1	(27-29)
Method		29-32
I.	Participants	(29)
II.	Measures	(29)
	a) Demographics	(29)
	b) Confidence Scale: Sexual Violence, Racism, Intersectionality, 1800s-1960s, 1960s-Present, and Allyship	(29-30)
III.	Procedure	(31-32)
IV.	Design	(32)
Results		32-35
I.	Sample Demographics	(32-33)
II.	Overall Descriptives for Measures	(33-34)
III.	Free-Response Qualitative Data	(34-35)

Discussion		35-41
I.	Reflections and Limitations	(37-39)
II.	Future Directions	(39-41)
Refe	References	
Appendices		50-94
I.	Appendix A: SAPA 201 Slides	(50-85)
II.	Appendix B: Pre-Test Survey	(86-88)
III.	Appendix C: Post-Test Survey	(89-92)
IV.	Appendix D: Invisible Knapsack Activity List	(93-94)
Tables and Figures		95-97
I.	Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Sample	(95)
II.	Table 2. Pretest, Posttest, and Change in Confidence Scores by Question, Question Type, and Total Average Score	(96-97)

Introduction

I. Addressing The Issue of Sexual Violence on College Campuses

Given the recognition of the prevalence of sexual violence (SV) on college campuses in the past few decades (Anderson and Whiston 2005; Jozkowski 2014; Cantor et al. 2015; Krebs et al 2015; White House 2017), institutions of higher education who receive federal funding are required to have and implement sexual assault prevention programming (Anderson and Whinston 2005; Jozkowski, Henry and Strum 2014). While sexual assault resources and programs have been on the rise, research evaluating the effectiveness of these various types of programs is a current undertaking within the field of SV (Gidycz et al. 2001; Anderson and Winston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu, Martin, and Macy 2011; Katz and DuBois 2013; Jozkowski, Henry and Strum 2014; Krause, Miedama, Woofter, and Yount 2017). Many of these evaluations mostly have found program effectiveness related to improving the behavioral intent of participants (more resistance strategies, more likely to assist in campus prevention programs, etc. [Gidycz et al. 2001; Anderson and Whiston 2005]), rape myths and facts (Vladitiu et al. 2011; Krause et al. 2017), gender-socialization and gender power differentials (Anderson and Whiston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu et al. 2011). Program evaluations have also found longer sessions, that are over one hour, to be more effective than programs that consist of multiple brief sessions (Anderson and Whiston 2005; Vladitiu et al. 2011).

Still, in the 2015 Campus Climate Survey Validation Study (Bureau of Justice Statistics) it was revealed and verified that 1 in 5 college women and 1 in 14 college men experienced

sexual assault. This verified the Association of American University's Campus Climate 2014 Survey findings that over 23% of college women experience SV (Cantor et al. 2015).

Interestingly enough, the Campus Climate Survey Validation Study (Bureau of Justice Statistics 2015) found that survivors on college campuses were more likely to disclose their assault to a friend or family member (Bureau of Justice Statistics 2015; White House 2017) rather than to law enforcement or their university's system. While the AAU's 2014 Campus Climate Survey on Sexual Assault and Sexual Misconduct found that over half of those who did report to agencies or organizations after their assault had a positive experience with these organizations, they additionally found that the groups that are most at risk of experiencing SV (women, transgender, gender non-conforming, and bisexual students) were the least likely to report to them (Cantor et al. 2015).

Recognizing that most survivors on college campuses are more likely to disclose their assault to their friends or family members (Bureau of Justice Statistics 2015; White House 2017), it is interesting that not a lot of research has yet been done on peer-based sexual assault educational groups or peer based activist initiatives (Krause et al. 2017). An additional point of interest was that while various evaluative studies found discussing gender-socialization and gender power differentials imperative to the effectiveness of a sexual assault educational program (Anderson and Whiston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu et al. 2011), not a single one of these articles or studies that were reviewed had mentioned an inclusion of how other power differentials, such as racism and race-socialization, and homophobia and transphobia, or classism affect survivors, patterns, or resources related to SV (Gidycz et al. 2001; Anderson and Winston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu et al. 2011; Katz and DuBois 2013; Jozkowski et al. 2014; Krause et al. 2017).

II. An Intersectional Analysis of Sexual Violence

The lack of evaluative studies on SV curricula including race was particularly alarming when examining the history of how SV was used as a tool of racism and colonialism (Lerner 1972; Combahee River Collective 1977; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Smith and Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016; "Incite!" N.D.; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). There is historical evidence of SV used as a tool to dehumanize Native American women before murdering them (to diminish the possibility of them reproducing) (Smith and Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12). There is also historical evidence of SV used against Black women throughout U.S. history as a tool of racism, to increase the slave population, and as tactic of White Terrorism against Black women, Black masculinity, and Black communities (Davis 1972; Lerner 1972; Combahee River Collective 1977; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Hallam 2004; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016; "Incite!" N.D.). Additional to this, is the substantial historical evidence of the White mythology of the Black male rapist and how it was commonly used after the Civil War as a way to validate acts of violence, such as lynching, against Black men and Black communities, which is particularly poignant as the rape of Black women by White men went unanswered (Lerner 1972; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Greensite 2009; Campney 2015; "Incite!" n.d.; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.).

While some may argue that these are historical issues that have little or no bearing on our present culture or society, there exists evidence of an intertwined legacy of racism, colonialism, and sexism that still affects us today. Even today, Native American women are more likely to experience a violent crime than any other racial group, and, unlike other racial groups where crimes are mostly intraracial, the majority of Native American women's perpetrators are White (Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). Additionally, due to the history of

colonialism, many Native American communities have a strong reluctance to participate in institutions of the U.S. State as they see this as a continuation of colonialism (Smith and Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12; "Incite!" n.d.). For Native American women, organizing to push for tribal sovereignty, the ability to hold non-tribal perpetrators accountable, and pushing for their tribes to have an effective system of accountability for perpetrators is a resistance not only to the sexism of gender-based violence (GBV) but to colonialism and racism, as well (Smith and Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12).

The prevalent effects of racism and anti-Blackness related to SV are exhibited by mock jury studies' results in which the perpetrators of White victims were more likely to be found guilty and received harsher sentences than the perpetrators of Black victims (Klein and Creech 1982). Additionally, in one scenario study, the date rape of a Black woman was perceived as a less serious crime, and their perpetrators were given lower conviction rates and shorter sentences, if they were convicted at all, than perpetrators of White women (Foley et al. 1995). Also, one meta-analysis of racial bias in mock juror studies (Mitchell et al. 2005) found that there is a significant racial bias against Black defendants compared to White defendants. They also found that in terms of receiving the death penalty, Black perpetrators of White murders were most likely to be assigned the death penalty, followed by White perpetrators of White murders-essentially revealing not only a racial bias against Black persons in the legal system as defendants, but evidence that violent crimes against White victims are taken more seriously than the crimes against Black victims (Mitchell et al. 2005).

Women of Color (WOC) have historically advocated and organized their own spaces during the second wave of the U.S. feminist/anti-violence movement to avoid the sexism in the Black Liberation movement, the racism of the mainstream feminist movement, and the racism

and sexism of the Leftist spaces (Combahee River Collective Statement 1977; Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; Greensite 2009). While many of the aims and initiatives of the mainstream U.S. feminist and anti-violence movement resulted in structural and institutional changes in our legal systems, educational systems, and medical systems, some of the negative consequences, such as heavier policing and police brutality, as well as obstacles of accessibility to these services, have been felt the most by WOC (Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; "Incite!" n.d; Tannis et al. 2014). This may be related to the racism and classism within the second wave feminist/anti-violence movement (Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; "Incite!" n.d).

The results of a legacy of racist and sexist violence against Black women persist to this day. The leading cause of death for Black women and girls from 15-35 is lethal domestic violence (Tannis et al. 2014). They experience this crime at three times the rate of White communities (Tannis et al. 2014). As discussed by many intersectional feminists, many of whom are WOC, resisting police brutality, mass incarceration, and state violence must be addressed as well when working on issues of interpersonal violence within their communities (Lerner 1972; Combahee River Collective 1977; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Hallam 2004; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016). There exists a fear and distrust in legal systems that have historically committed or validated violence against communities of color (Weiser 2014; Burns 2016; Johnson 2017; Tribune News Services 2017). As a result, there is also a hesitancy within communities of color to acknowledge and address interpersonal violence, as they are resisting institutional violence as well that could or would use the issue to validate racist sentiments about communities of color (Sudbury 2003; Tannis et al. 2014; Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.).

One of the notable points the Black Women's Blueprint presented to the 2014 United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) was that: "Rape and

sexual assault in Black communities *are* racial justice issues." If this statement holds true, then it follows that rape and sexual assault in Native American communities are Tribal Liberation issues. And, if this statement holds true, then it follows that rape and sexual assault in LGBTQ+ communities are Queer Liberation issues. And, if this statement holds true, then it follows that rape and sexual assault in immigrant communities and amongst undocumented persons are citizenship issues. And, if this statement holds true, then it follows that rape and sexual assault in communities in poverty are class issues. And, ultimately, if all of these statements hold true, which there exists a plethora of historical and present day evidence that they do, it ultimately means that rape and sexual assault are not just issues related to sexism, but also to racism, to colonialism, to homophobia, to transphobia, to xenophobia, and to classism.

Due to the evidence of these histories, and particularly the legacies and present day consequences, it was very concerning to discover there is a lack of research on the development or evaluations of intersectional SV college curricula that include other forms of oppression. While one researcher who developed and evaluated her own college SV curriculum noted her surprise of how many young women did not know the history of the anti-violence movement and the work that so many had done to improve resources (Senn 2011), this researcher also made no mention of the heteronormativity or "race-blind" approaches that erase the work that WOC and LGBTQ+ activists had done during the anti-violence movement (Combahee River Collective Statement 1977; Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; Greensite 2009) to address interpersonal violence against and within their communities, as well. As the CDC recommended as a result of their 2010 study that there is a need for the development of culturally competent IPV and SV programs specifically for LGBTQ+ communities, I think it also has been exemplified due to the histories of how SV has been used against and has affected various communities differently, that

the non-existence of intersectional SV college curricula and their respective evaluations is a large gap in both literature and practice.

Audre Lorde, a prominent poet, womanist, feminist, and civil rights activist of the anti-violence movement once stated: "There is no such thing as a single-issue struggle because we do not live single-issue lives" (Lorde 1982). I think this can and must be applied to the issue of SV, and consequently, this calls for the dire need of the application of an intersectional framework to SV curricula. To be an advocate for *all* survivors means to be an advocate for WOC, people of color, men, LGBTQ+ individuals, persons with disabilities, people who are impoverished, and a combination of all of those various social locations.

III. Description of the Sexual Assault Peer Advocates (SAPA) 201 Curriculum

Emory Sexual Assault Peer Advocates (SAPA) is a peer-led organization that was founded in 2011. The original objective of Emory SAPA was to create a survivor friendly campus through consciousness raising and building community via peer-led SAPA 101 trainings and weekly Continued Education Meetings (CEMs). While our 1.5-2 hour SAPA 101 curriculum focused solely on victim-blaming, debunking sexual assault myths, university policy, response guidelines to support and to empower survivors, and campus and local resources, this focus left many gaps to be filled. SAPA has received peer feedback in prior years of the need to adopt an intersectional lens to understand and to address the interconnections of sexual violence with other forms of institutional violence, such as: racism, homophobia, transphobia, classism, ableism, and sexism. We also have received feedback that the heteronormative, "race-blind" approach established excludes and erases the nuances and experiences of sexual violence women

of color, LGBTQ+, men, and people with disabilities. In an effort to fill these gaps and to better serve our community of survivors, I recognized the need to build a curriculum to better prepare our advocates to support all survivors of sexual violence, which meant preparing and educating advocates on other forms of institutional and interpersonal violence.

Originally, I intended to develop a seven-module curriculum covering the intersections of racism, ableism, homophobia, transmisogyny, sexism, classism, and how they intertwine, interact, and impact individuals' and communities' experiences with sexual violence. Once I began working on developing literature reviews on the history of the anti-violence movement, nuances and tensions amongst mainstream, White feminist movements in the U.S. and Black feminists and other WOC, and the theoretical backing and application of intersectionality and how it relates to sexual violence, it became apparent that SAPA 201 would have to be broken into a part 1 and a part 2. For my thesis, I developed SAPA 201 pt. 1 that focused on intersectionality and the history, activism, policy changes, racism, and classism within the sexual violence movement, and how various communities have varying concerns related to sexual violence and various ideals of how it should be addressed. Through working with the Emory University Respect Program in the Office of Health Promotion, I developed a two-hour, fourmodule curriculum that consisted of: 1. Intersectionality and the Negative –Isms, 2. History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1800s-1960s), History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1960s-Present), and 4. Summarization and Application of SAPA 201.

For Module 1, *Intersectionality and the Negative –Isms*, my main objectives were for participants to develop a baseline understanding of the fundamental forms of oppression, an understanding of how these forms of oppression are intertwined, and an ability to analyze scenarios with an intersectional lens. For Module 2, *History of Activism and Policies around*

Sexual Violence (1800s-1960s), my main objectives were for participants to develop and to improve their abilities to describe major historical events related to the anti-violence movement during this time period, discuss national policy changes around sexual violence during this time period, describe tensions within various feminist movements of this era, and to recognize the contributions that Women of Color (WOC) made to the field of anti-violence activism during this era. Module 3's objectives, History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1960s-present), were identical to those of Module 2 but focused on the 1960s to the present. Module 4's objectives, Summarization and Application of SAPA 201, were for participants to develop and to enhance their ability to apply an intersectional lens to sexual violence and everyday activism, to understand accountability, and to discuss the nuances and tensions related to allyship, or how individuals or groups who have institutional privilege may actively use their privilege to support marginalized groups who do not have that institutional privilege.

After developing the SAPA 201 curriculum, I then developed a pilot program evaluation that consisted of a pretest/posttest questionnaire to measure participants' self-reported confidence levels, on a seven point Likert scale, of the content, abilities, and skills the curriculum aimed to enhance. The questionnaire I developed consisted of 20 items that were related to one of six categories: sexual violence, racism, intersectionality, allyship, 1800s-1960s: Legal and political history, or 1960s-present: Legal and political history. I also included a posttest free response section to allow participants to provide feedback, thoughts, and suggestions they may have had. After collecting the data, I used ExCel to measure descriptives and to analyze change in mean scores by question type, total mean score, and range scores of participants. I then coded qualitative feedback by reading through responses thrice and making note of major themes.

I administered this pilot program evaluation by recruiting college undergraduates via SAPA's Facebook page, the SAPA listserv, and the Office of Residence Life listservs who would be inaugural participants of the SAPA 201. I hypothesized that there would be an increase in posttest scores compared to pretest scores and that there would be a greater mean change in scores for those who were not SAPA 101 trained in comparison to those who were.

Literature Review and Module Development

I. Module 1: Intersectionality and Forms of Oppression

While developing Module 1, a thorough review of historical and theoretical research articles was developed to provide participants with an understanding of the framework that would be applied to the consequent sections. Thus, the foundation of this module was based on the works of Crenshaw (1989; 1991), Lorde (1982), Davis (1981), Smith (Smith and Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12), and Rushin (1981). When reviewing the literature, although Crenshaw is credited as the theorist who developed intersectionality, the idea of our sociopolitical identities being linked and related to one another (1989; 1991), literature was found that predated Crenshaw's work and made mention of sociopolitical issues not existing as singularities (Lorde 1982) and how specifically sexual violence relates other forms of violence such as racism (Combahee River Collective 1979; Davis 1981; Rushin 1981) and colonialism (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12).

The module opened with a list of the "negative-isms" of racism, sexism, classism, homophobia, transphobia, ableism, ageism, and a disclaimer of how these -isms are intertwined

and affect individuals concurrently. See Appendix A. The module then proceeds to discuss Crenshaw's theoretical work on intersectionality (Crenshaw 1989; Crenshaw 1991) and teases out and exemplified the distinctions she makes between structural intersectionality, political intersectionality, and representational intersectionality (Crenshaw 1991). To exemplify an example of intersectional theory being put to practice in present settings, examples from the literature review of misogynoir (WITW 2015) and the racist and sexist media treatment of Gabby Douglas (Nittle 2016) during the 2016 Summer Olympics. The module ended with an exercise on how to apply intersectional theory to the list of "white privileges" from McIntosh's "White Privilege: Unpacking the Invisible Knapsack" (1988), or how the listed "white privileges" in the article also may apply to privileges associated with other dominant sociopolitical groups.

II. Module 2: History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1800s-1960s)

While developing Module 2, various historical and theoretical texts and articles were reviewed. The objectives of this module were to enhance participants' understanding of major historical events related to the anti-violence movement, national policy changes related to sexual violence, tensions within various feminist movements, and to recognize the contributions WOC had made to the field of anti-violence activism during this era. The module opens by a discussion of England's Chief Justice of the 1670s, Sir Matthew Hale, who developed the foundation of U.S. rape laws (Jordan 2014). Hale's jurisprudence and legal writings included the legal understanding and treatment of women as property, and hence rape as a crime against property, marital exemptions for rape, and a short statute of limitations for rape in fear of women "claiming rape," an action Hale claimed was common and easy to do (Jordan 2014).

Consequently, Hale's legal writings heavily provided the foundation for U.S. rape laws up until the second wave of feminism when the anti-rape movement gains social and political traction.

Shifting from the foundation of U.S. rape laws, the module then begins discussing the founding of the U.S. and how sexual violence was used as a tool of racism (Lerner 1972; Combahee River Collective 1977; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016; "Incite!" N.D.; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.), colonialism (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12; "Incite!" n.d.), and sexism. While Black women were systemically raped by White slave owners as a means of White terrorism, patriarchy, and as a means to increase the slave population (Davis 1972; Combahee River Collective 1977; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Hallam 2004; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016; "Incite!" N.D.), Native American women not only were raped systemically but also were massacred as an act of genocide and attack on the possibility of the population regenerating (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12; "Incite!" n.d.). Moreover, Native American scholars have listed the systematic sexual violence committed against Native American women by early colonizers as a means to dehumanize and demoralize the Native American population through labeling their bodies as "dirty," thus rapeable due to the lack of "purity," which served as a metaphor as their lands also being invadeable (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008).

Additionally, while Black and Native American bodies were labeled as "dirty" or "promiscuous," this "Othering" of women of colors' bodies led to an elevation of White women's gendered racial status and validated the mythology of White "purity" (Hallam 2004; Fuentes 2016; PBS n.d.). While the rape of a White woman during slavery up until the 1960s was treated as an attack on her assumed "purity" (Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Smith & Ross 2004; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.), Black women were not recognized

the legal right to give and to withhold consent for sexual agency, since they were labeled "promiscuous" and assumed to be unchaste as a way to validate the acts of violence their White owners (Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Greensite 2009; Fuentes 2016; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). Additionally, due to the dehumanization of Native Americans, not only were the acts of sexual violence they experienced by White colonizers unrecognized by legal systems (Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12), at times it was even encouraged as a tactic of battle (Smith & Ross 2004).

Moving forward from the Antebellum period, the module then discussed the American Civil War and Reconstruction period during which time White terrorist organizations such as the Ku Klux Klan were founded and acts of widespread lynchings and murders of Black men, women, and children began (Lerner 1972; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Greensite 2009; Campney 2015; "Incite!" n.d.; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). During this section of the module, statistics about the number of lynchings (Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; "Incite!" n.d.), rate of executions of Black convicted rapists compared to White convicted rapists (Davis 1981), and debunking the mythology of the Black male rapist was covered, as a majority of lynchings did not include a rape accusation, and most Black women who were lynched were first raped by White mobs (Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; "Incite! n.d.). Again, mythology of the Black male rapist as a validation of White terrorism (Wriggins 1983; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.) paralleled the mythology of the hypersexual Black jezebel of the Antebellum period that was used as a validation of the systemic rape of Black women by White men (Wriggins 1983; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). Additionally, the module made mention of the Memphis Riots of 1866 to bring attention to the double standard of the threat of White women being raped validating violence while Black

women evidently being raped by White men went greatly ignored (Davis 1981; Greensite 2009; Mason 2015) as well as one of the first instances of the veil around sexual violence being lifted and presented to the U.S. Congress (Greensite 2009; Mason 2015).

The module then introduced the establishment and work of the Women's Christian

Temperance Union (WCTU) (Masson 1997) followed by a comparison with the Black Women's Anti-Rape Movement activism (Baker 1996; Greensite 2009; Fields-White 2011; Biography.org 2015; Biography.org 2016) that was happening concurrently. The WTCU is credited as being one of the largest and most influential women's suffrage organizations of its' era, and is well known for its' strategic use of temperance, abstinence, and purity as tools to bring domestic violence, prison reform, women's suffrage, raising the age of consent laws, and public education to the forefront of sociopolitical issues (Masson 1997). It must be acknowledge though, that the WTCU also utilized racist rhetoric denigrating the Black family structure as a means to push for their values of purity and abstinence (Masson 1997; Fields-White 2011). Additionally, the WTCU used the racist argument that the (White) women's suffrage would help cancel out the "Negro vote" as a ploy to persuade White men to support advancing White women's suffrage (National Women's History Museum 2007; Fields-White 2011).

In contrast to the WTCU was the existence and mobilization of the Black Women's Anti-Rape Movement, of which the core leaders were Ida B. Wells (Baker 1996; National Women's History Museum 2007; Greensite 2009; Fields-White 2011; Biography.org 2016) and Mary Church Terrell (National Women's History Museum 2007; Biography.org 2015). During this time, due to the racist exclusion Black women generally faced from the WTCU, they developed black women's club chapters, where they organized and mobilized not only for women's suffrage but for Black liberation and anti-lynching as well (Baker 1996; National Women's

History Museum 2007; Greensite 2009; Fields-White 2011; Biography.org 2015; Biography.org 2016).

To demonstrate the tensions that existed during this era between the WTCU and the Black Women's Anti-Rape Movement, the module delved deeper into the work and biographies of Ida B. Wells, Mary Church Terrell, and WTCU President, Frances W. Willard (Baker 1996; Masson 1997; National Women's History Museum 2007; Greensite 2009; Fields-White 2011; Bernard 2013; Biography.org 205; Biography.org 2016). Beyond the racial segregation of National American Woman Suffrage Association's (NAWSA) chapters and the rhetoric of White women being able to cancel out "the Negro vote" (National Women's History Museum 2007; Fields-White 2011), the module exemplified these tensions by discussing the 1913 Suffrage Parade in D.C. During this parade Black suffragettes were instructed to march in the back of the parade instead of with their respective state's delegations but Ida B. Wells refused to and marched with her state's delegation (Baker 1996; Bernard 2013). This event served as a prominent example of this era of White feminists/suffragettes expecting Black feminists to choose one part of their sociopolitical location over the other.

The module discusses the 19th Amendment being passed, resulting in White suffragettes ending their association with Black suffragettes, ultimately turning a blind eye as racist voter restriction legislation and vigilante groups barring African Americans from the polls became prominent throughout the South (National Women's History Museum 2007; Fields-White 2011; Bernard 2013). Finally, the module ends with a brief discussion of the racial and gender effects of WWII bringing middle- and upper-class White women into the workforce temporarily (n.a.

2013), racist housing policies following WWII (Seiter 2003), and the heightened racial inequality during the 50s' (Lerner 1972; Self 2013).

III. Module 3: History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1960s-Present)

While developing Module 3, various historical and theoretical texts and articles were reviewed. The objectives of this module were to enhance participants' understanding of major historical events related to the anti-violence movement, national policy changes related to sexual violence, tensions within various feminist movements, and the contributions of WOC to anti-violence activism during this era. The module opened with a discussion and analysis of Betsy Friedman's *The Feminine Mystique* (1963), a book that often is cited to be the spark to the second wave of U.S. feminism (Fetters 2013). A part of this critique is the racist, classist, and hetero-normative premise on which the book is built (Fetters 2013), treating White home-making women's experiences as the universal woman's experience, overlooking the 1/3 of women in the U.S. already in the workforce when this book was published, and disregarding that WOC would have to assume domestic responsibilities when middle and upperclass White women went to enter the workforce (Fetters 2013).

The module then addresses the notorious Moynihan Report (Moynihan 1965), as an example of a sociopolitical shift of a biological understanding of race to a sociocultural one, as well as an example of how Black women were targeted and blamed via racist and sexist rhetoric for the additive effects of White racism against the Black community (Moynihan 1965; Davis 1972). With the racial and gender climate quickly being established, the module introduces second-wave feminism by acknowledging the major gains it made towards addressing domestic

violence and sexual assault (DVSA), including, but not limited to: rape shield laws, increased statutory limitations, marital rape legally recognized, the establishment and increased funding of DVSA shelters, crisis hotlines, counseling services, and legal and medical advocacy (Richie 2000; Greensite 2009; Self 2013; Jordan 2014). After covering these broad gains made during this era, an era that made more progress addressing DVSA than the 300 years that came before it (Jordan 2014), the module informed participants of the state of DVSA legislation entering the second wave of U.S. feminism.

During the beginning of the second wave of U.S. feminism, U.S. DVSA law still closely resembled that of Sir Matthew Hale's era in the 1670s (Jordan 2014)—there was a short statute of limitations, survivors had to prove their resistance (unlike any other violent crime), there were marital exemption laws for sexual violence, alleged perpetrators and defense lawyers were permitted to bring up the survivor's past sexual history and other information not directly related to the case in order to corrode their perceived credibility, and DVSA cases were largely understood to be cases of "he said, she said" (Greensite 2009; Self 2013; Jordan 2014). The module then covers the 60s and 70s, mentioning the relationship the anti-violence movement had with the Civil Rights movement and Anti-Vietnam efforts (Greensite 2009; Self 2013) and then discussing the major institutional victory of this time period, increasing the statute of limitations in a majority of states for DVSA (Jordan 2014). Following this is the mention of how WOC were reluctant about these institutional "victories" as their communities had historically faced violence from the same systems on which mainstream feminism was relying, and so, these institutional victories mostly benefitted middle- and upper-class White women (Richie 2000; Self 2013; Campney 2015; "Incite!" 2016).

Around the same time activists were seeing legislative change as a result of their efforts, grassroots efforts resulted in the development of the nation's first rape crisis centers, many of which were organized by survivors with no outside funding (Greensite 2009). Radical strategies the anti-rape movement utilized during this time included: confronting rapists with a group in public, publishing lists describing the attributes of rapists, organizing self-defense classes, and organizing Take Back the Nights (TBTN) (Greensite 2009). Around the same time that the first rape crisis centers were established, Title IX was passed and enforced as part of the 1972 Higher Education Amendments (though, when initially passed, it did not include sexual harassment or sexual assault as forms of gender discrimination yet) (U.S. Department of Justice 2015).

While these institutional and structural changes definitely benefited some survivors of DVSA, there were still many racial and class-based tensions that existed within the movement that were not being addressed in the White, mainstream spaces and these institutions continued to fail WOC and those who were lower-class (Richie 2000; "Incite!" 2016). In response to mainstream feminism's failings, WOC organized and mobilized to bring national attention to WOC who had been imprisoned for defending themselves against their assailants or rapists (Greensite 2009). These women included Inez Garcia, Joanne Litte, Yvonne Wanrow, and Dessie Woods (who was released in 1981 due to organizers' efforts) (Greensite 2009). To create a space for themselves where they could practice intersectional politics and escape the racism in the mainstream feminist movement, the sexism in the Black liberation movement, the racism and sexism in Leftist spaces, and the lesbian separatism that existed in most of these spaces, Black women joined together to create community coalitions such as the National Black Feminist Organization (NBFO) in 1973 and the Combahee River Collective in 1974 that allowed them to organize around intersectional feminist politics (Combahee River Collective 1977; Richie 2000;

Sudbury 2003; Greensite 2009; Self 2013). These spaces were based on Black feminist thought that recognized how state and interpersonal violence are connected and that if Black lesbian women are centered in the movement and liberated, then all others must then be free as well (Combahee River Collective Statement 1977; Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; Greensite 2009).

Following the establishment of Black feminist spaces and organizations, the late 70s were full of additional institutional and structural gains regarding DVSA, as the first Sexual Assault Response Teams (SART) were developed in 1976 to provide survivors with trained medical and legal advocates, which eventually became standardized and led to the creation of the Sexual Assault Nurse Examination (SANE) training (Greensite 2009; Jordan 2014). Additionally, two years later, in 1978, the first Take Back the Night (TBTN) was organized in the U.S. in San Francisco (San Francisco Walk Against Rape n.d.). Another major milestone in 1978 for the anti-violence movement was the congressional approval of Rule 412, or, rape shield laws (Jordan 2014). This legislation prohibited the examination of a survivor's past sexual history in all civil and criminal rape cases, except in certain cases where it was found to be relevant information (Jordan 2014). Two years later in the infamous *Alexander v. Yale (1980)* case, another institutional and structural milestone was achieved, this time, one that recognized sexual harassment and a form of sex discrimination.

Due to all of these activist and organizer efforts and their respective structural and institutional gains, in the 80s the first African American Studies and Women, Gender, and Sexuality Studies courses and departments are developed and feminism became integrated into the academy which allowed for empiricism to debunk rape myths and false statistics and lead to the recognition of both acquaintance rape and the severity and prominence of child rape and molestation (Sudbury 2003). Some critiques that followed the institutionalization of academic

feminism were the culture of academia's value of individual achievement and originality, which were in tension with the overall goals of feminist movements of collectivity and equality (Sudbury 2003).

Also in the 80s, additional institutional and structural changes are recognized including more training for police departments to handle cases of DVSA, the development of special examination rooms in hospitals, some states completely eliminating their statute of limitations for sexual violence, and the standard of "proving resistance" during an attack shifts as society's understanding of sexual violence and power differentials shifts as well (Richie 2000; Greensite 2009; Jordan 2014). By the 80s, many states had rape shield laws in place and many institutional gains were made, but at the same time, in response to this WHAT? came massive backlash (Greensite 2009). This backlash was exhibited via the influx of writers and commentators questioning the validity of studies that had debunked rape myths that led to rising insecurity of funding for rape crisis centers (Smith 2004; Greensite 2009; "Incite!" 2016). In an effort to secure the future of outside funding and support, many rape crisis centers in the 80s begin to professionalize, "deradicalize" and centralize their politics, and while this may have secured funds, it increases tensions within the movement related to racism, classism, homophobia, and transphobia (Smith 2004; Greensite 2009; "Incite!" 2016).

Following the institutional and structural changes of the 80s came the 90s where a serious dialogue and recognition of marital rape was finally actualized (Jordan 2014). While in 1975, marital rape was legal in all U.S. states, by 1993, all states recognized marital rape as a crime (Jordan 2014). Even so, this conversation needs to be continued as in 2014 about half of U.S. states still had some sort of marital exemption law for cases where a spouse was drugged, unconscious, coerced, etc. (Allen 2015). Additionally, in 1990 the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of

Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act was passed (Jordan 2014). This led to mandated reporting of violent crimes on campus, including sexual violence, to be reported and publicized each year for any educational institution that receives federal funding (Allen 2015). While amendments were made to the Clery Act in 1992, 1998, 2000, and 2008 to enhance the protections provided to survivors, the Clery Act receives criticism that it causes underreporting due to campus communities not representing or enforcing it well, which silences survivors who are concerned about their confidentiality (Allen 2015).

An additional trend in the 90s was the continued professionalization of DVSA clinics and shelters, a process that began in the 80s. While this has led to the widespread acceptance of DVSA as a legitimate issue and has secured state funding, it has also been a major element of the movement de-radicalizing, and White women have had an advantage to land positions of management and leadership in these clinics due to their higher access to education and professionalized degrees in the 80s in comparison to WOC (Richie 2000; Greensite 2009; Women of Color Network 2013).

In 1994, the historic Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) passed, which required states and local governments to pay for the cost of forensic medical examinations (Jordan 2014). Although this relieved financial burden off of survivors, it also has received serious criticisms from intersectional feminists and prison abolitionists who have noted that it was attached to the Violence Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act that consequently increased the use of the death penalty, prohibited prisoners from receiving Pell grants, and increase funding for the prison system by almost \$2 billion (Smith 2011-12).

In retrospect, the major questions when analyzing the second wave of U.S. feminism are which groups have benefited from these institutional changes and which groups have faced

negative consequences? While it is undeniable that the second wave resulted in a plethora of improvements for legal, medical, and social services for survivors of DVSA, these improvements benefitted middle-, upper-class, White women the most who had access to therapists, law enforcement officers, and doctors (Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; "Incite!" n.d.). While WOC have attempted to bring up issues of state violence, like mass incarceration, increased arrests, detentions, and prosecutions, they have typically been told by mainstream feminism that these issues are not related to sexual violence, not recognizing that to WOC they are (Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; "Incite!" n.d.). While the second wave U.S. feminist movement heavily focused on increasing accountability, legislation, and services provided by the State, the communities that feel the consequences of this the most are communities of Color (Richie 2000; Sudbury 2003; Smith 2004; Smith 2011-12; Palacios 2016).

To counteract the erasure of their experiences and sociopolitical needs, WOC and intersectional feminists have organized coalitions such as the Women of Color Network (1997) to promote WOC leadership within the movement and to challenge racism and classism within how DVSA is currently addressed (Women of Color Network 2008; Women of Color Network 2013). Intersectional feminists have also organized large-scale conferences like the 1998 Critical Resistance Conference in Berkeley, CA and the 2000 Color of Violence Conference: Violence Against WOC in Santa Cruz, CA (Rojas 2000; Sudbury 2003; Smith & Ross 2004). Both of these conferences attempted to create coalitions between the prison abolition and the DVSA movements and to create critical dialogue of how to hold perpetrators of DVSA accountable and survivors safe in a prisonless society, how to potentially decrease the DVSA movements' reliance on the State, and how to integrate anti-racist, anti-colonialist, and anti-capitalist objectives with the DVSA movement (Rojas 2000; Sudbury 2003; Smith & Ross 2004). From

these conferences coalitions such as Incite! Women of Color Against Violence formed to create community-based accountability programs for cases of DVSA that don't rely on the State or prison systems (Sudbury 2003; "Incite!" n.d.).

To better exemplify the nuances of the tensions and issues that were erased by the mainstream second-wave feminist movement, the module further explained specific barriers that Native American women, undocumented women, and Asian American Pacific Islander women had to and have to face. Issues for Native American women include how the mainstream feminist anti-rape movement heavily relies on the State and its' institutions to address sexual and interpersonal violence but for Native American and indigenous people, the State was a main source and perpetrator of sexual and interpersonal violence against their communities (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12; "Incite!" n.d.). For Native American communities, this reliance on the State to address and alleviate sexual violence is just a continuation of colonialism, a system of violence against their community that utilized sexual violence as a way to dehumanize, demoralize, and destroy their communities (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12; "Incite!" n.d.). Not only has the State instituted sexual violence as a tool of colonialism against Native American communities, they also forcibly sterilized Native American women in the 70s (Smith 2004), this history of sexist, racist, and colonialist violence against the Native American communities has resulted in a deeply-rooted distrust of State involvement and institutions.

Moreover, although Native American women are twice as likely to experience a violent crime than any other racial group, and unlike other racial groups, 60% of their perpetrators are White and non-members of their racial group, only 5% of DVSA shelters are for Native American women (Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). For Native American

communities, to address sexual violence means to not only address sexism but to address racism and colonialism at the same time as well (Smith & Ross 2004; Smith 2008; Smith 2011-12).

For undocumented women who are survivors of DVSA, there is a general fear of deportation and/or detention, especially in cases where their abuser holds the green card ("Incite!" n.d.; Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.). Additional barriers undocumented women face include language barriers in the clinics, clinics not having adequate legal services and resources for the complexity of undocumented women's cases and status, and the erasure of these issues being related to DVSA, as mainstream feminism has historically declared these are issues of immigration, not DVSA (Smith 2004; Women of Color Network 2008; "Incite!" n.d.; Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.).

For Asian American or Pacific Islander (AAPI) survivors of DVSA, they are the most likely to be sexually assaulted by a White perpetrator (Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence. n.d.; "Incite!" n.d.). Additionally, the AAPI community has higher rates of victim-blaming ideologies than White communities (Lee et al. 2005) and some researchers have found that traditional AAPI values of close family ties, harmony, and order minimize occurrences of DVSA rather than decreasing the rate of them (Ho 2008). While AAPI survivors, at times, face issues that undocumented survivors do, they then additionally face language barriers in the clinics (Women of Color Network 2008; Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.d.).

Additionally, the module then shifted to exemplify how and why distrust for the State and legal system are prevalent within communities of Color by discussing the Central Park Five Case. The Central Park Five Case addressed the 1989 rape, assault, and sodomy of a female jogger in Central Park (Weiser 2014; Burns 2016). Due to the attack, the victim was in a coma and when she woke up had no memory of the event (Weiser 2014). Police arrested Antron

McCray, Raymond Santana, Kevin Richardson, Yusef Salaam, and Korey Wise as suspects, all of who are People of Color (POC) and were aged 14-16 years old. The boys were coerced into a confession by law enforcement without a parent, guardian, or lawyer present, even though they were minors (Weiser 2014; Burns 2016). Police denied the boys food, drink, or sleep for hours in an attempt to coerce them into confessing. The boys were wrongfully imprisoned until a DNA test revealed in 2002 the singular rapist, which was not any of the now men (Weiser 2014; Burns 2016). Korey Wise wrongfully spent 13 years in jail and the other 4 men were wrongfully imprisoned for 7 years (Weiser 2014). More than just a mishandled case, media utilized racist rhetoric throughout the conviction and Trump even purchased full-page ads in *The New York Times* calling for more police surveillance and for the death penalty to be reinstated (Burns 2016).

Cases such as this echo a long history of wrongful convictions, institutional violence, and racist rhetoric used to validate the imprisonment or murder of Black bodies. As exemplified with Emmett Till's case, where he was brutally tortured and murdered as a 14-year-old boy for being *accused* of wolf whistling at Carolyn Bryant Donham, a white woman (Johnson 2017; Tribune News Services 2017). Recently, his accuser Carolyn Bryant Donham has admitted to lying about the occurrence but it has been verified that she will not be prosecuted (Johnson 2017; Tribune News Services 2017). Fueling the murder of 14-year-old Emmett Till was the mythology of the Black male rapist and predatory sexuality, something that was perceived to be such a threat to mythologized White feminine "purity," that even the accusation or idea of this "purity" being approached by Blackness was seen as a validation in White communities to lynch, torture, and murder Black men (Lerner 1972; Davis 1981; Wriggins 1983; Greensite 2009; Campney 2015; "Incite!" n.d.; Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center n.d). This trope followed suit in

the Central Park Five Case where a racist rhetoric was used by media to push for the prosecution and wrongful imprisonment of five Black and Brown boys and people calling for reinstating the death penalty and strengthening police forces (Weiser 2014; Burns 2016).

Due to these histories, Men of Color (MOC) are less likely to be believed as survivors and are also less likely to report to police due to historic and present violence against MOC (Sexual Assault Prevention Awareness Center n.a.) Additionally, WOC who are survivors feel torn at times of who or where to report to as there is a very real concern of perpetuating racist stereotypes that are used as an excuse to police and perpetuate violence against their communities and a distrust for police forces who have historically committed acts of violence not only against Black men, but Black women, and Black children as well (Richie 2000; Greensite 2009; "Incite!" 2016). As a result of this, and the continued mass incarceration and police brutality Black communities face in the U.S., Black Lives Matter was founded in 2012 in response to the murder of 17-year-old Trayvon Martin and the acquittal of his murderer, George Zimmerman (Black Lives Matter 2012). Founded by three Black women: Alicia Garza, Patrisse Cullors, and Opal Tometti, the movement attempts to not only address state violence but interpersonal violence as well (Black Lives Matter 2012). In an attempt to apply intersectional feminist praxis to their movement, as gaps were exposed in advocacy for certain Black women and Black trans-men and -women, extensions of Black Lives Matter have responded with #SayHerName and #BlackTransLivesMatter (Black Lives Matter 2012).

Unrelated to Black Lives Matter and the reemergence of the Black liberation movement, yet still related to feminist work and policy changes of the present day, was the White House's 2011 *Dear Colleague Letter* that reminded colleges that they have an obligation to follow Title IX and to protect their students from hostile environments by proactively handling reported

sexual assault cases. Another major legislative change related to DVSA came in 2013 when the FBI's Rape Addendum changed the definition of sexual assault, which used to be gendered and used the pronoun "her," to any penetration of any orifice of the victim without their consent (FBI: UCR 2013). This served as a much-needed step into the gender-inclusive and non-heteronormative recognition of sexual violence, though, there still is a long way to go until this is achieved on a de jure and de facto level.

The module concluded with an exercise where participants assembled in groups and discussed what went well and what could have gone better with The Women's March on Washington this year. After discussing with their groups, participants shared things that stood out to their group with the whole group of participants. Finally, the module made mention of the "Era of Trump" as a reminder that there is much work to still be done and that survivors' agency is a continual fight as we saw with the Safe Campus Act proposal and this year's HB51 proposed legislation in Georgia.

IV. Module 4: Summarization and Application of SAPA 201 pt. 1

While developing Module 4, a few final pieces of literature were reviewed to help develop the theoretical framework of effective allyship, to enhance participants' understanding of the nuances of allyship, to enhance participants' ability to apply an intersectional lens of sexual violence to one's everyday activism, and how to understand accountability. Ultimately though, as a Module heavily focused on summarizing and applying theory and content reviewed in prior Modules, most additional reading done for this Module were news articles and videos to open up discussion and analysis of intersectional problems. One theoretical piece established

during this Module though, was the idea of "Exclusion vs. Tokenization" where it was communicated that exclusion due to a lack of opportunities and/or a hostile environment is an issue WOC note in surveys about their professional experiences, tokenization, or hiring them as "representatives" of their community is a serious problem as well (Women of Color Network; Women of Color Network 2013). Examples of this have been seen in the DVSA movement where WOC and multilingual women are hired for a specific position but then are expected to do uncompensated additional labor to increase services, outreach, and/or inclusion of communities they identify with (Women of Color Network 2013).

An additional concept this Module introduced was the ambiguity of language in activist and advocacy-based work. While it was noted that having a written open statement of the goals and values of an organization or movement can increase accountability, this does not surmount that much if the statement consists only of words rather than actions (Women of Color Network 2008). Related to the issue of language was then the concept and issue of "Speaking on Behalf of Others" (Alcoff 2008) where allies and/or advocates take up space rather than make space for the groups they are trying to support. Following this concept was a slide that provided participants points of reflection when analyzing and actualizing their allyship: intent vs. effect, accountability, humility, and not taking up space. Following this slide was an exercise for participants to group up again and discuss the difference between intent and effect of the following scenarios: Adele's 2017 Grammy Speech (Powers 2017), Rachel Dolezal (Oluo 2015), and Andrea Smith (Solomon 2015) (who is a White professor and Native American who claimed to be Cherokee and ironically, whose theoretical work on Native American feminisms was utilized when developing my curriculum and thesis.). Finally the Module ended by listing out future direction for SAPA 201 pt. 2 which intends to include a Module on Interpersonal Violence

and LGBTQ+ Communities, Toxic Masculinity and Effemephobia, and Ableism and Interpersonal Violence.

Method

I. Participants

The sample used in my evaluation was made up of 11 undergraduate students, between their 2nd and 4th years at Emory University. The only inclusion criterion for participating in the SAPA 201 pilot test evaluation was to be an undergraduate college student. I utilized convenience-sampling methods as described in the "Procedures" section below.

II. Measures

- a. Demographics and Characteristics. Participants first self-reported their gender (open-ended), class year at Emory (1st, 2nd, 3rd, or 4th), their race and/or ethnic identity from 7 categories (African American/Black, White, Asian American Pacific Islander, Latinx, Hispanic, Mixed Race, or Other). Participants then indicated their level of familiarity and/or involvement with SAPA via 4 questions inquiring about their SAPA status (SAPA 101 trained, SAPA Advocate, SAPA Peer Facilitator, and/or SAPA Executive Board Member). See Appendix B.
- b. Confidence Scale: Sexual Violence, Racism, Intersectionality, 1800s-1960s, 1900s-Present, Allyship. A 20-item questionnaire was developed and designed as a seven point Likert

scale. A new instrument was developed, opposed to using an existing knowledge questionnaire, due to the novelty of this theory-based curriculum. The instrument was a self-efficacy scale, as the language of the wording is around "confidence to...", and was used to measure participants' self-confidence with the skills, abilities, and content the curriculum was aiming for them to develop. Learning objectives were created for each module, and corresponding items on the instrument were developed to measure a participant's level of confidence in attaining each objective. Although question items were developed from the objectives of each module, each item could be and was categorized as an item related to sexual violence, racism, intersectionality, 1800s-1960s: Legal and Political History, 1960s-Present: Legal and Political History, or Allyship. Overall, the scale was a 20-item questionnaire designed as a seven point Likert scale and was used to measure participants' self-confidence with the skills, abilities, and content the curriculum was aiming for them to develop via participating in SAPA 201. The scale consists of items such as, "I feel confident in my ability to discuss the nuances of allyship..." which participants rated on a scale from 1 to 7, 1 being "no confidence" and 7 being "very confident." Participants completed this questionnaire both before and after participating in SAPA 201 changes in their confidence levels could be evaluated before and after receiving the curriculum. In addition to the questionnaire items of the pretest, the posttest also consisted of a "free response" section where participants were asked to list their favorite and least favorite aspects of the curriculum and what worked well about the training session and what could have been improved. Participants were then asked whether there was either any unnecessary or missing content in the SAPA 201 curriculum. They were finally asked in the posttest if they would recommend SAPA 201 to a friend and if they would be interested in taking SAPA 201 pt. 2 based on their experience with SAPA 201 pt. 1. See appendices B and C.

III. Procedure

Undergraduate students were recruited via convenience sampling from online recruitment (Facebook posts, listservs, etc.). Interested individuals filled out the SAPA 201 Google sign-up form and were sent a reminder email 48 hours before the training. Participants came to Penthouse Towers on a Sunday afternoon from 2PM-4PM for SAPA 201. Before beginning the training participants filled out the pre-test questionnaire that took approximately 10 minutes to complete (see Appendix B). The session was led via Google slides and Youtube videos of related content and skits (see Appendix A). An interactive activity utilizing the list of privileges in Peggy McIntosh's "White Privilege: Unpacking the Invisible Knapsack" essay (1988) was integrated by having participants work in groups to discuss how various privileges listed apply to other dominant sociopolitical identities other than race (see Appendix D). For example, one group mentioned item number 20 on McIntosh's list: "I can easily buy posters, postcards, picture books, greeting cards, dolls, toys, and children's magazines featuring people of my race." (McIntosh 1988) and how this statement could also apply to privileges associated with sexuality, religion, and ability.

The curriculum session took approximately 2 hours to complete and participants then completed the post-test questionnaire that took approximately 15 minutes to complete (see Appendix C). No monetary compensation was provided for participants but complimentary brunch was provided. Participants were provided more information regarding the intent and interests of my curriculum and evaluation and participants of were provided my contact information (university e-mail address and phone number) should they have any additional

questions or concerns. All participants received the same questionnaire and were presented the same curriculum.

IV. Design

For my pilot program evaluation a descriptive pretest/posttest study design was implemented to determine if the curriculum was effective (increased confidence levels related to module objectives) and to evaluate the qualitative feedback received from participants on areas of strength in the curriculum, areas of improvement, what was effective, what was not and other thoughts and/or suggestions they may have had. The evaluation collected qualitative and quantitative data and ran within-subjects analyses. After collecting data, ExCel was used to develop and analyze descriptives and/or changes in confidence towards certain content, skills, and abilities. Qualitative feedback from the free response of the posttest instrument was analyzed by coding the feedback by reading through the feedback thrice, listing common themes in the feedback, and listing ways that these themes were connected.

Results

I. Sample Demographics

Of the eleven participants, four had no prior experience with SAPA (36.4%) and seven had at least been SAPA 101 trained (63.6%). Out of the seven participants who had at least been SAPA 101 trained, only two were SAPA Advocates (28.5% of those SAPA trained; 18.2% of all

participants) and these two participants were also the only two participants who were also SAPA Peer Facilitators and SAPA Executive Board Members.

The majority of participants identified as a woman (81.8%, n = 9), some participants identified as a man (18.2%, n = 2), and no participants identified as trans*, genderqueer, or non-binary. Class years of the participants were distributed as follows: zero first years (0%), one second year (9.1%), five third years (45.5%), and five fourth years (45.5%). The racial make-up of participants was as follows: three White participants (27.3%), four African-American/Black participants (36.4%), three Asian American Pacific Islander participants (27.3%), one Mixed Race participant (9.1%), zero Latinx participants (0%), zero Hispanic participants (0%), and zero Native American/Indigenous participants (0%).

II. Overall Descriptives for Measures

See Table 2 for overall descriptive statistics of each individual questionnaire item, each confidence in attaining the objective by each item type (sexual violence, racism, intersectionality, 1800s-1960s, 1960s-present, and allyship), and overall self-confidence scores. The change in mean score for sexual violence questions was 0.53, 0.43 for racism questions, 1.01 for intersectionality typed questions, 0.84 for allyship questions, 2.96 for 1800s-1960s based questions, and 2.59 for 1960s-present based questions. Thus, the largest changes in mean scores for confidence were 1800s-1960s based questions and 1960s-present based questions, followed by intersectionality typed questions. The total mean score for participants before taking the curriculum was 83.41 (140 is the maximum possible score, 0 is the lower possible score) with individual scores ranging from 62-112. The total mean score for participants after taking the

curriculum was 114.84 with individual scores ranging from 101-126. Overall, the change in total mean scores for participants before and after taking the SAPA 201 curriculum was a 31.43 point increase and the range of scores compared between the pretest and posttest data halved, indicating that there is less of a disparity of knowledge amongst participants after taking SAPA 201.

In the posttest, 10 participants indicated they would recommend SAPA 201 to a peer or friend (90.9%) and all 11 participants indicated that they would be interested in taking a SAPA 201 pt. 2 curriculum based off of their experience with SAPA 201 pt. 1 (100%).

III. Free-Response Qualitative Data

In the free-response section of the posttest (see Appendix C) some of the major themes participants listed as their favorite elements of SAPA were the inclusion of Women of Color's contributions to sexual violence prevention activism (Black feminist theory vs. White mainstream feminism, Native American and AAPI statistics, racism and classism within the feminist movement), the historical content, and the curriculum's engagement with the audience. This corresponded closely with the major themes that came up when analyzing what participants thought went well with SAPA 201: engagement (discussions, activities, videos, etc.), intersectional perspective, and the timeline of events.

Some of the major themes participants listed as their least favorite elements of SAPA were the length of the curriculum (time, amount of material, etc.), word density on the slides (too much reading, concentration issues for participants, etc.), and the heavy focus on Black feminist theory (a few participants listed a desire to learn more about other WOC's feminisms). This

corresponded closely with the major themes that came up when analyzing what participants thought could be improved upon for SAPA 201 which included and desire for more audience interaction and engagement and less words and content on the slides. Another major theme participants mentioned when addressing how to improve SAPA 201 was a desire for more of the curriculum to be spent on activities or discussions on how to apply the historical content to the present, which could also provide an opportunity to improve audience engagement.

When addressing what participants found unnecessary, participants generally did not list any aspect or subject of SAPA 201 to be unnecessary, but two participants emphasized the need for more selectivity when deciding what historical figures and events to include. Participants generally did not have any additional content or subjects they would have liked to see added to SAPA 201. An exception is that one participant wanted ableism to be incorporated into the curriculum and another participant who wanted there to be time for discussion after the entire curriculum had been delivered for future SAPA 201 sessions.

Discussion

The evaluation examined whether there was an increase between pretest and posttest scores for participants of SAPA 201 in a sample of eleven undergraduates. It was hypothesized that there would be an examinable difference in pretest and posttest scores among participants. It was also hypothesized that participants who were not SAPA trained would have a larger increase between their pretest and posttest scores compared to SAPA trained participants. This evaluation is important as in recent years SAPA has received a plethora of feedback about the gaps in our programming and organization regarding intersectionality and other forms of institutional

violence. A conversation of how to best respond, address, and correct this gap has occurred amongst members of the SAPA Executive Board and Emory University's Respect Program for two years now. While feminist research has been conducted analyzing peer-led efforts to address sexual assault on college campuses, which includes peer-led sexual violence curricula (Krause et al. 2017). Missing from this conversation is an analysis of what effect or impact an intersectional peer-led sexual violence curriculum could have on students' everyday activism and advocacy. This evaluation helps alleviate both the disparities brought to SAPA's attention as well as disparities in the literature that is scarce of evaluations on intersectional college sexual assault curricula.

Unfortunately, this evaluation did not have enough participants to yield analyses to test for significant changes in mean pretest and posttest scores, but based on the data that was collected it does appear that there is a change in mean pretest and posttest scores (significance is unable to be tested). While qualitative data coded provided valuable insight in ways that SAPA 201 could be improved upon in terms of content, delivery, and flow, again, due to the small sample size, it is not possible to draw conclusive results as results may have been heavily influenced by outliers or anomalies or may have had a larger margin of error than a large sample size would have.

Increasing the evaluation studies sample size to test for significant changes in mean test scores may be a point of future interest for researchers, along with an additional delayed posttest to be delivered to participants one week and/or one month after participating in SAPA 201 to measure content retention.

I. Reflections and Limitations

When initially designing this project, my original idea of SAPA 201 consisted of a 7-module curriculum that also included LGBTQ+ barriers and issues related to sexual and interpersonal violence and resources, ability and disability, and toxic masculinities/effemephobia and how this contributes to a culture of violence and creates barriers for masculine-identifying survivors. Due to time restraints, I decided to reduce the SAPA 201 to a 5-module curriculum that focused mostly on intersectionality, the history of the anti-violence movements, and race and class based tensions throughout the anti-rape and anti-violence U.S. movements. Even then, only while researching and collecting sources did I begin to fully recognize the vastness of the project I had taken on. As listed in the qualitative feedback I received, my curriculum did end up focusing heavily on the tensions specifically between Black feminists and mainstream White feminists throughout U.S. history and did lack substantial mention and attention to Latina, Chicana, Asian American Pacific Islander, and Native American feminisms and issues (though, I did include information on the latter two).

While assessing of how to improve SAPA 201, I will have to decide and weigh my options of either including other isms and forms of violence (ableism, homophobia, transmisogyny, etc.) to SAPA 201 pt. 1 or if I will need to develop a separate and new pt. 2 curricula to further fill in these gaps. Most likely, future modules will be developed for a separate SAPA 201 pt. 2 in order to avoid overloading the curriculum on content.

Additionally, as participants mentioned in their qualitative feedback, the content, length and time of the curriculum were all too long and heavy—some even noted that the length and amount of content resulted in a lapse of concentration and content absorption. In response to this,

when updating SAPA 201 pt. 1, delivering the modules at separate times in order to lighten the load will definitely be considered. While attempting to share a typically erased or ignored history and issues facing WOC, I faced the difficult decision of what content and material to include and what content and material not to include. This felt like a paradoxical task, one that I felt as if I was repeating past historical patterns of privileged groups deciding which stories are valid or important enough to share and discuss and which are not, which was extremely ironic since the development of my curriculum was an attempt to center the experiences and contributions WOC have made and continue to make to the anti-violence and rape-crises movements. I do understand though that cutting back on some content and length could definitely increase content absorption and retention, so this is an area I will need to further explore.

Related to the issue of length and breadth of my curriculum, even though in the final module I did include videos and discussion activities, the two prior content heavy and historically based modules probably exhausted participants to the point of mentally disengaging or no longer wanting to participate in discussions or other activities. When re-evaluating and editing my curriculum, I will have to consider ways of how to create a more consistent flow of audience engagement and participation rather than the more sporadic model I implemented.

Finally, in terms of evaluation design, although I initially had 22 students sign up for the SAPA 201 only 11 showed up on the day of the training. In addition to the small sample size, another limitation was that the sample was from self-selection and did not represent the campus demographics or the national college and university student body demographics well. This greatly limited my ability to analyze quantitative or qualitative data for any statistically significant changes in total scores or scores by question type or to make any sort of inferences. Additionally, due to time constraints, I did not have the ability to implement an additional

posttest one week or one month after the pilot training in order to analyze to what extent participants retained SAPA 201's content or to inquire if or how they applied any curriculum material into their daily lives or advocacy.

II. Future Directions

Based off of the initial findings of my pilot test evaluation, a useful next step would be to create and distribute a follow-up questionnaire for inaugural participants to administer 1 month and then 3 months after their initial training to analyze content retention and their ability to apply curriculum content to everyday life and advocacy. Also, since questionnaire items were generated from the modules' objectives, in a way, this was teaching the test before administering it, so a delayed posttest to measure content retention or a stronger instrument to measure actual changes in attitude, knowledge, and self-efficacy is needed. Ultimately, testing more systematically to generate a more representative and larger sample size would also allow inferences and tests for significance to be made. Additionally, based off of qualitative feedback I received, I will edit and revise the SAPA 201 pt. 1 curriculum to decrease the length, increase opportunities for audience engagement, and enhance the flow of the presentation by shortening slide length and making sure the opportunities for audience engagement are throughout the presentation instead of heavily and solely in only two of the modules.

My following step will be working on adjusting some of SAPA 201 pt. 1's content and then digitizing it 1 with the Respect over the summer so it is prepared and ready to be implemented during Resident Advisor and Orientation Leader trainings in August. Following this step, I plan to work on or at least develop the foundation for SAPA 201 pt. 2 to enhance the

general curriculum and campus consciousness around LGBTQ+ issues, ableism, and toxic masculinities in relation to sexual violence.

In future pilot evaluations for SAPA 201 pt. 1 revisions and SAPA 201 pt. 2, I intend to increase participant numbers by perhaps increasing the incentives or increasing publicity. Also, for future pilots and program evaluations of SAPA 201 pt. 1 and pt. 2, I will develop a content based quiz for every module so I may better analyze the actual increase in knowledge, skills, and abilities, rather than participants' perceived self-confidence in relation to these items.

An additional point of interest and future exploration is that even though transgender, bisexual, and gender non-conforming individuals were approximately just as likely to experience SV in comparison to women (Cantor et al. 2015), none of the literature on sexual assault educational programs made mention of any evaluation on educational programs that focused or made mention of how SV and IPV impacts the LGBTQ+ community, specific resources, empowering strategies, or intersectional activism for this community (Gidycz et al. 2001; Anderson and Winston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu et al. 2011; Katz and DuBois 2013; Jozkowski et al. 2014; Krause et al. 2017). Recent research has also revealed that bisexual, transgender, and gender non-conforming individuals experience SV on college campuses at a near equivalent rate as female undergraduates (22%-27%, depending on public vs. private institutions, respectively) (Cantor et al. 2015).

This was verified by the 2015 Campus Climate Survey Validation Study (Bureau of Justice Statistics) that found 1 in 4 transgender students and 1 in 3 bisexual students experience SV while in college. Additionally, the CDC's 2010 study on the rates of intimate partner violence (IPV) and SV in relation to sexual orientation found that 60% of bisexual women had experienced SV or IPV in their lifetime, 46% of bisexual women were raped by a partner in their

lifetime, and 48% of bisexual women displayed a concern for their safety or at least one sign of PTSD after their attack. For lesbians these numbers were 44%, 13%, and 20%, respectively, and 35%, 17%, and 22% for heterosexual women (CDC 2010). For bisexual men researchers found that 37% had experienced IPV or SV in their lifetime and when considering SV other than rape, 47% of bisexual men had experienced this (CDC 2010). For gay men these numbers were 26% and 40%, respectively, and 29% and 21% for heterosexual men (CDC 2010).

Considering these statistics, it was extremely concerning that no SV curricula in the literature reviewed had mentioned an inclusion of SV within LGBTQ+ communities (Gidycz et al. 2001; Anderson and Winston 2005; Senn 2011; Vladitiu et al. 2011; Katz and DuBois 2013; Jozkowski et al. 2014; Krause et al. 2017). This is especially troubling as the CDC recommended, as a result of their 2010 study, that efforts be made to develop culturally competent services for the LGBTQ+ community (which should include education and awareness raising). In the development of future modules of SAPA 201, there is undeniably a serious need for the historical content, past and current policies, and present around issues facing the LGBTQ+ community to be included.

References

- Alcoff, Linda M. 2008. "The Problem of Speaking for Others." Retrieved October 4th, 2016 (https://depts.washington.edu/egonline/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2010/05/Alcoff-Reading.pdf).
- Alexander v. Yale, Civ. No. N-77-277 (D. Conn.) (1980). Retrieved September 15th, 2016 (https://www.clearinghouse.net/detail.php?id=12614).
- Allen, Samantha. 2015. "Marital Rape is Semi-Legal in 8 States." *The Daily Beast*, June 9th. Retrieved March 5th, 2017 (http://www.thedailybeast.com/articles/2015/06/09/marital-rape-is-semi-legal-in-8-states.html).
- Anderson, Linda & Susan C. Whiston. 2005. "Sexual Assault Education Programs: A Meta-Analytic Examination of their Effectiveness." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 29: 374-388. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.2005.00237.x
- Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence. n.d. "Statistics on Violence Against API Women." Retrieved January 13th, 2017 (http://www.api-gbv.org/resources/violence-against-api-women.php).
- Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence. July 2016. "HIV, IPV, and Asian American Pacific Islander Women & Girls." Retrieved January 13th, 2017 (http://www.api-gbv.org/issues/hiv-aids.php).
- Baker, Lee D. 1996. "Ida B. Wells-Barnett and Her Passion for Justice." Retrieved February 1st, 2017 (http://people.duke.edu/~ldbaker/classes/AAIH/caaih/ibwells/ibwbkgrd.html).
- Bernard, Michelle. 2013. "Despite the Tremendous Risk, African American Women Marched for Suffrage, Too." *The Washington Post*, March 3rd. Retrieved December 14th, 2016 (<a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/she-the-people/wp/2013/03/03/despite-the-tremendous-risk-african-american-women-marched-for-suffrage-too/?utm_term=.37e1b4dfa9ca).
- Biography.org. 2015. "Mary Church Terrell Biography." Retrieved January 13th, 2017 (http://www.biography.com/people/mary-church-terrell-9504299).
- Biography.org. 2016. "Ida B. Wells Biography." Retrieved January 25th, 2017 (http://www.biography.com/people/ida-b-wells-9527635).
- Black Lives Matter. 2012. "About the Black Lives Matter Network." Retrieved November 13th, 2016 (http://blacklivesmatter.com/about/).
- Burns, Sarah. 2016. "Why Trump Doubled Down on the Central Park Five. *The New York Times*, October 17th. Retrieved February 8th, 2017 (https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/18/opinion/why-trump-doubled-down-on-the-central-park-five.html).

- Campbell, Rebecca. 2006. "Rape Survivors' Experiences with Legal and Medical Systems: Do Rape Victim Advocates Make a Difference?" *Violence Against Women* 12(1): 30-45. Retrieved October 3rd, 2016 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16314660).
- Campbell, Rebecca. 2009. "Predicting Sexual Assault Prosecution Outcomes: The Role of Medical Forensic Evidence Collected by Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners." *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 36(7): 712-727. doi: 10.1177/0093854809335054
- Campney, Brent M.P. 2015. "Chapter 6: The Life of No Colored Man is Safe." 132-155 in *This is Not Dixie: Racist Violence in Kansas, 1861-1927*. University of Illinois Press. Retrieved November 29th, 2016

(https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16txwq0.11?Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-

- women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page_scan_tab_contentshttps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.54 06/j.ctt16txwq0.11?Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page_scan_tab_contents).
- Cantor, David, B. Fisher, S. Chibnall, R. Townsend, H. Lee, C. Bruce, & G. Thomas. 2015. Report on the AAU Campus Climate Survey on Sexual Assault and Sexual Misconduct. Rockville, MD:

 Westat. Prepared for: The Association of American Universities. Accessed November 3rd, 2016

 (https://www.aau.edu/uploadedFiles/AAU_Publications/AAU_Reports/Sexual_Assault_Campus_Survey/AAU_Campus_Climate_Survey_12_14_15.pdf).
- CDC. 2010. NISVS: An Overview of 2010 Findings on Victimization by Sexual Orientation. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control; Division of Violence Protection. Accessed March 1st, 2017 (https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/cdc nisvs victimization final-a.pdf).
- Clark, Amelia E. n.d. "Truth, Sojourner." Retrieved January 18th, 2016 (https://www.learningtogive.org/resources/truth-sojourner).
- Combahee River Collective. 1977. "The Combahee River Collective Statement. Accessed December 20th, 2016 (http://americanstudies.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Keyword%20Coalition_Readings.pdf).
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1989. Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. Accessed March 26, 2017

 (http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf).
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1991. "Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color" *Stanford Law Review* 43:1241
- Davis, Angela Y. 1972. "Reflections on the Black Woman's Role in the Community of Slaves." *The Massachusetts Review* 13(½): 81-100. Accessed January 8th, 2017 (http://www.bowdoin.edu/news/events/archives/images/Community%20of%20Slaves.pdf)

- Davis, Angela Y. 1981. "Rape, Racism and the Capitalist Setting." *The Black Scholar* (12)6: 39-45. Web. (https://www.jstor.org/stable/41066856?seq=1#page scan tab contents)
- Erin M. Masson, 1997. "Women's Christian Temperance Union 1874-1898: Combating Domestic Violence." *William and Mary Journal of Women and the Law* 3 (1):163-188. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmjowl/vol3/iss1/7).
- FBI: UCR. 2013. "Rape Addendum." Federal Bureau of Investigation: Criminal Justice Information Services Division. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice. Retrieved November 13th, 2016 (https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2013/crime-in-the-u.s.-2013/rape-addendum/rape_addendum_final).
- Fetters, Ashley. 2013. "4 Big Problems with *The Feminine Mystique*." *The Atlantic*, February 12th. Retrieved February 1st, 2017 (https://www.theatlantic.com/sexes/archive/2013/02/4-big-problems-with-the-feminine-mystique/273069/).
- Fields-White, Monee. 2011. "The Root: How Racism Tainted Women's Suffrage." *NPR*, March 25th. Retrieved October 15th, 2016 (http://www.npr.org/2011/03/25/134849480/the-root-how-racism-tainted-womens-suffrage).
- Foley, Linda A., C. Evancic, K. Karnik, & A. Parks. 1995. "Date Rape: Effects of Race of Assailant and Victim and Gender of Subjects on Perceptions." *Journal of Black Psychology* 21(1): 6-18. doi: 10.1177/00957984950211002
- Fuentes, Marisa J. 2016. *Dispossessed Lives: Enslaved Women, Violence, and the Archive*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.cttlc5chbv.7).
- Gidycz, C. A., M. J. Layman, C. L. Rich, M. Crothers, J. Gylys, A. Matorin, & C. D. Jacobs. 2011. "An Evaluation of an Acquaintance Rape Prevention Program: Impact on Attitudes, Sexual Aggression, and Sexual Victimization." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 16(11): 1120-1138. doi: 10.1177/088626001016011002
- Greensite, Gillian. 2009. "History of the Rape Crisis Movement." *California Coalition Against Sexual Assault*, November 1st. Retrieved September 29th, 2016 (http://www.calcasa.org/2009/11/history-of-the-rape-crisis-movement/).
- Hallam, Jennifer. 2004. *The Slave Experience: Men, Women, and Gender*. PBS. Educational Broadcasting Corporation. Retrieved December 12th, 2016 (http://www.pbs.org/wnet/slavery/experience/gender/history.html).
- Ho, Christine K. 1990. "An Analysis of Domestic Violence in Asian American Communities: A Multicultural Approach to Counseling." *Women and Therapy* 9(1-2): 129-150.

- Johnson, Erik. 2017. "Woman who Falsely Accused Emmett Till will Avoid Prosecution." February 6th. Retrieved February 12th, 2017 (http://sdvoice.info/woman-who-falsely-accused-emmett-till-will-avoid-prosecution/).
- Jordan, Carol E. 2014. *Violence against Women in Kentucky: A History of U.S. and State Legislative Reform.* Lexington, KY: University Press of Kentucky. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt6wrs08.8).
- Jozkowski Kristen N., D. S. Henry, & A. A. Sturm. 2015. "College Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Sexual Assault Prevention Education: Suggestions for Targeting Recruitment for Peer-Based Education." *Health Education Journal* 74(1): 46-59. doi: 10.1177/0017896913516298
- Katz, Jennifer & Melinda DuBois. 2013. "The Sexual Assault Teach In Program: Building Constructive Campus-Wide Discussions to Inspire Change." *Journal of College Student Development* 54(6): 557-654. doi: https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2013.0083
- Klein, Kitty and Blanche Creech. 1982. "Race, Rape, and Bias: Distortion of Prior Odds and Meaning Changes." *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 3(1): 21-33. doi: 10.1207/s15324834basp0301 2
- Krause, Kathleen H., Stephanie S. Miedema, Rebecca Woofter, & Kathryn M. Yount. 2017. "Feminist Research with Student Activists: Enhancing Campus Sexual Assault Research." Manuscript Accepted to *Family Relations*.
- Krebs, Christoper, C. Lindquist, M. Berzofsky, B. Shook-Sa, & K. Peterson. 2015. *Campus Climate Survey Validation Study Final Technical Report*. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved February 10th, 2016 (https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ccsvsftr.pdf).
- Lee, J., E.C. Pomeroy, S. K. Yoo, & K. T. Rheinboldt. 2005. "Attitudes Towards Rape: A Comparison between Asian and Caucasian College Students." *Violence Against Women* 11(2): 177-196. Retrieved November 5th, 2016 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16043546).
- Lerner, Gerda, ed. 1972. *Black Women in White America: A Documentary History*. New York City, NY: Vintage Books.
- Lorde, Audre. 1982. "Learning from the 60s" Audre, Lorde, Sister Outsider: Essays & Speeches by Audre Lorde (Berkeley: Crossing Press, 2007), 134-144.

- Masson, Erin E. 1997. "The Women's Christian Temperance 1874-1898: Combating Domestic Violence." William and Mary Journal of Law 3(1): 163-188. Accessed November 25th, 2016 (http://scholarship.law.wm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1273&context=wmjowl&sei-redir=1&referer=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bing.com%2Fsearch%3Fq%3Dwoman%2527s%2520c hristian%2520temperance%2520union%2520college%2520of%2520william%2520and%2520m ary%26qs%3Dn%26form%3DQBRE%26sp%3D-1%26pq%3Dwoman%2527s%2520christian%2520temperance%2520union%2520college%2520 of%2520william%2520and%2520mary%26sc%3D0-61%26sk%3D%26cvid%3D3907EEAD06D248BFBE771CC0FC7500BC#search=%22womans%20christian%20temperance%20union%20college%20william%20mary%22)
- McIntosh, Peggy. 1988. "White Privilege: Unpacking the Invisible Knapsack." excerpt in *White Privilege and Male Privilege: A Personal Account of Coming to See Correspondences Through Work in Women's Studies*. Accessed February 7th, 2017

 (https://www.deanza.edu/faculty/lewisjulie/White%20Priviledge%20Unpacking%20the%20Invisible%20Knapsack.pdf).
- Mitchell, Tara L., R. M. Haw, J. E. Pfeifer, & C. A. Meissner. 2005. "Racial Bias in Mock Juror Decision-Making: A Meta-Analytic Review of Defendant Treatment." *Law and Human Behavior* 29(6). doi: 10.1007/s10979-005-8122-9
- Moynihan, Daniel P. 1965. *The Negro Family: The Case for National Action*. Office of Policy Planning and Research. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Labor. Retrieved February 10th, 2017 (https://web.stanford.edu/~mrosenfe/Moynihan's%20The%20Negro%20Family.pdf).
- National Women's History Museum. 2007. "African American Women and Suffrage." Retrieved January 21, 2016 (https://www.nwhm.org/online-exhibits/rightsforwomen/AfricanAmericanwomen.html).
- n.a. 2013. "Gender Roles in Post-War America." Retrieved February 21st, 2017 (http://social.rollins.edu/wpsites/thirdsight/2013/04/13/gender-roles-in-a-post-war-america/).
- N.a. 2017. *The Second Report of the White House Task Force to Protect Students from Sexual Assault.* The White House. Washington, D.C.: The White House. Retrieved January 28th, 2017 (https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Documents/1.4.17.VAW%20Event.TF%20Report.PDF).
- Nittle, Nadra K. 2016. "Why the Attacks on Gabby Douglas are Racist and Sexist." *Race Relations*, August 17th. Retrieved October 8th, 2016 (http://racerelations.about.com/od/trailblazers/fl/Why-the-Attacks-on-Gabby-Douglas-Are-Racist-and-Sexist.htm).

- Oluo, Ijeoma. 2015. "How Rachel Dolezal's Lies Hurt Black People." *The Seattle Globalist*, June 15th. Retrieved February 22nd, 2017 (http://www.seattleglobalist.com/2015/06/15/rachel-dolezal-lies-hurt-black-people-spokane-ijeoma-oluo/38338).
- Palacios, Lena. 2016 *Girlhood and the Politics of Place*. Berghahn Books. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt14jxn16.21).
- PBS N.D. "Conditions of Antebellum Slavery (1830-1860)" PBs. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/aia/part4/4p2956.html).
- Powers, Ann. 2017. "The Problem with the Grammys is not a Problem we can Fix." *NPR*, February 14th. Retrieved February 21st, 2017 (http://www.npr.org/sections/therecord/2017/02/14/515024057/the-problem-with-the-grammys-is-not-a-problem-we-can-fix).
- Richie, Beth E. 2000. "A Black Feminist Reflection on the Antiviolence Movement." *Signs* 23 (4):1133-1137. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/3175500).
- Rojas, Patrisia M. 2000. "Re-building the Anti-Violence Movement." *ColorLines*, October 10th. Retrieved January 5th, 2017 (http://www.colorlines.com/articles/re-building-anti-violence-movement).
- Rushin, Kate. 1981. "The Bridge Poem." Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://katerushinpoet.com/poem3.html).
- San Francisco Walk Against Rape. n.d. "History." Retrieved February 20th, 2017 (http://www.sfwar.org/walk/history.html).
- Seiter, David M. 2003. "The Growth of the Suburbs—and the Racial Wealth Gap." Retrieved March 15th, 2017 (http://www.pbs.org/race/000 About/002 04-teachers-07c.htm).
- Self, Robert O. 2013. "Bodies Count: The Sixties Body in American Politics." 239-269 in *The Long 1968: Revisions and New Perspectives*. Indiana University Press. Retrieved October 28th, 2016 (https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt16gzk03.13?Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri= %2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D4&seq=21#page_scan_tab_contents).
- Senn, Charlene Y. 2011. "An Imperfect Feminist Journey: Reflections on the Process to Develop an Effective Sexual Assault Resistance Programme for University Women." *Feminism & Psychology* 21(1): 121-137. doi: 10.1177/0959353510386094
- Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center. N.d. "Communities of Color and the Impacts of Sexual Violence." University of Michigan. Accessed March 26, 2017 (https://sapac.umich.edu/article/57).

- Smith, Andrea & Luana Ross. 2004. "Introduction: Native Women and State Violence." *Social Justice* 31(4):1-7. Accessed March 1st, 2017 (https://www.socialjusticejournal.org/SJEdits/98Edit.html)
- Smith, Andrea. 2008. "American Studies without America: Native Feminisms and the Nation-State." American Quarterly: 309-315. Accessed February 2nd, 2017

 (http://pages.ucsd.edu/~rfrank/class_web/ES-200A/Week%207/60.2.smith01.pdf)
- Smith, Andrea. 2011-12. "Decolonizing Anti-Rape Law and Strategizing Accountability in Native American Communities." *Social Justice* 37(4): 36-43. Accessed February 13th, 2017 (https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/41478932.pdf)
- Solomon, Akiba. 2015. "Native Feminism, White Women Passing and the Sad Tale of Andrea Smith." *ColorLines*, July 7th. Retrieved February 22nd, 2017 (http://www.colorlines.com/articles/native-feminism-white-women-passing-and-sad-tale-andrea-smith).
- Sudbury, Julia C. 2003. "Toward a Holistic Anti-Violence Agenda: Women of Color as Radical Bridge-Builders." *Social Justice* 30 (3):134-140. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/29768214).
- Tanis, Farah, L. M. Odom & A. S. Simmons. 2014. "Report on Racial Discrimination and Sexual Violence Against Women of Color, Including Those Identifying as LGBTQ, and the Impact of Inadequate Racial Justice Initiatives and Violence Prevention Policy Implementation in the United States." Retrieved March 3rd, 2017

 (http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CERD/Shared%20Documents/USA/INT_CERD_NGO_USA_17718_E.pdf).
- Tribune News Services. 2017. "Emmett Till Accuser Admits to Giving False Testimony at Murder Trial: Book." January 28th. Retrieved February 12th

 (http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/nationworld/ct-emmett-till-accuser-false-testimony-20170128-story.html).
- Truth, Sojourner. 1851. "Ain't I A Woman?" Akron, OH:Women's Convention. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.sojournertruth.com/p/aint-i-woman.html).
- U.S. Department of Justice. 2015. Overview of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. A§ 1681 ET. SEQ. Retrieved November 5th, 2016 (https://www.justice.gov/crt/overview-title-ix-education-amendments-1972-20-usc-1681-et-seq).
- Vladutiu, C. J., S. L. Martin, & R. J. Macy. 2011. "College- or University-Based Sexual Assault Prevention Programs: A Review of Program Outcomes, Characteristics, and Recommendations." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse* 12(2): 67-86. doi: 10.1177/1524838010390708
- Weiser, Benjamin. 2014. "5 Exonerated in Central Park Jogger Case Agree to Settle Suit for \$40 Million." *The New York Times*, June 19th. Retrieved February 17th, 2017

- (https://www.nytimes.com/2014/06/20/nyregion/5-exonerated-in-central-park-jogger-case-are-to-settle-suit-for-40-million.html).
- WITW Staff. 2015. "When Gender and Race Collide, it's "Misogynoir"." WITW Staff: NYTimes. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://nytlive.nytimes.com/womenintheworld/2015/10/07/when-discrimination-of-race-and-gender-collide-its-misogynoir/)
- Women of Color Network. 2008. "National Women of Color Statement: Call to Action 2008 by Women of Color Advocates and Activists." July. Retrieved September 22nd, 2016 (http://www.doj.state.or.us/victims/pdf/national_women_of_color_statement_a_call_to_action.pdf).
- Women of Color Network. 2013. "Women of Color Leadership: A Look at the Experiences of Women of Color Executives in the Anti-Violence Against Women's Movement." Ms. Foundation for Women.
- Wriggins, Jennifer. 1983. "Rape, Racism, and the Law." *Harvard Women's Law Journal* 6: 103-141. Retrieved January 5th, 2017 (http://digitalcommons.mainelaw.maine.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1042&context=faculty-publications)
- Zimmerman, E. 2016. "Campus sexual assault: A timeline of major events." The New York Times . Accessed March 26, 2017 (https://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/23/education/campus-sexual-assault-atimeline-of-major-events.html).

Appendix A: SAPA 201 Slides

Images from SAPA 201 pt. 1 Curriculum have been removed to respect and adhere to copyright laws.

EMORY SAPA 201!

(Part 1)

Spring 2017

INTRODUCING SAPA AND OUR 101 PROGRAM

- 2011 → peer-led for a survivor friendly campus
- SAPA 101:
 - o Victim-blaming
 - Debunking sexual assault myths (providing statistics)
 - University policy
 - o 5-point response guideline for supporting a survivor
 - Campus and local resources
- SAPA Weekly Continued Education Meetings (CEM)s
 - More complex issues related to sexual violence

SAFE SPACE

- Commitment to each other
 - Recognize that there statistically likely to be survivors of interpersonal violence in the room
 - Avoid language that reinforces structural inequities
 - Victim-blaming language avoided (other than examples)
 - o Space of learning → Respect different levels of experience and understanding
 - o Being accountable

CONTENT WARNING

Some of the material may be triggering for survivors and we want to develop a space where survivors feel comfortable reaching out to resources like the Respect Program or taking a break or getting some space from the room if they are triggered.

WHAT COMES TO MIND WHEN WE THINK OF...

- Survivor:
- Perpetrator:
- Consent:

The lens we view sexual violence through is too often White, heteronormative, and ableist

WHY A 201?

- SAPA was founded to focus on sexual violence
 - o Sexual violence weaves in with other forms of violence
- Advocacy → to work against all forms of violence
 - o To support all survivors, need to be aware of all forms of violence
- To broaden the general understanding students have around sexual violence
 - Meeting people where they are:
 - Each of us have different levels of knowledge around these issues
 - Each of us have different nuanced backgrounds
 - ALL of us can be advocates working against forms of violence

ANTI-VIOLENCE MOVEMENTS AND WOMEN OF COLOR

Why focus on women of color?

- Historically, the contributions of women of color have been ignored or erased
 - Workers, leaders, and coordinators
 - o Translators and Cultural programming for DVSA
- Effective activism must take intersectionality into account
 - There are specific issues each population deals with-understanding the needs of women of color is crucial to implement effective activism, advocacy, and policy

OVERALL GOALS OF SAPA 201 PART 1

- 1. An increased understanding of various forms of violence
- 2. An increased understanding of how all forms of violence are interconnected
- Increased skills and abilities to apply intersectional principles to everyday advocacy

STRUCTURE

4 Modules:

- 1. Intersectionality and the Negative -Isms
- 2. History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1800s-1960s)
- 3. History of Activism and Policies around Sexual Violence (1960s-Present)
- 4. Summarization and Application of 201 pt. 1
- 5. Future Directions

MODULE 1: INTERSECTIONALITY AND FORMS OF OPPRESSION

After this module, learners will be able to:

- 1. Describe fundamental forms of oppression
- 2. Describe how forms of oppression are intertwined
- 3. Analyze scenarios with an intersectional lens

THE NEGATIVE -ISMS

- Racism
- Sexism
- Classism
- Homophobia
- Transphobia
- Ableism
- Ageism

These -isms and the identities people hold in relation to them intertwine and interact, and affect people in a multitude of different ways

INTRODUCING INTERSECTIONALITY!

"Sometimes You're a Caterpillar":

DR. KIMBERLÉ CRENSHAW AND INTERSECTIONALITY

- Develops theory of intersectionality in the 80s
 - Talk of intersectionality had existed, but had not been formally recognized yet

"In the context of violence against women, this elision of difference in identity politics is problematic, fundamentally because the violence that many women experience are often shaped by other dimensions of their identities, such as race and class."-Crenshaw, 1991

INTERSECTIONALITY AND VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN

- 1. Structural Intersectionality: how structural inequities result in different experiences with violence WOC face
- 2. Political Intersectionality: WOC exist in two political categories whose agendas do not always align, and sometimes clash
- 3. Representational Intersectionality: How images of Black women and their critiques ignore their actual interests (instrumentalization)

STRUCTURAL INTERSECTIONALITY

- Because of additive effects of racism throughout U.S. history, WOC more likely to be underemployed, unemployed, or living in poverty
- Poverty, childcare, job limitations → gender and class oppressions
- Housing and job discrimination → race oppression
- Shelters that only focus on immediate violence will not be able to fully serve WOC
 - \circ Other forms of violence linked to and shape the sexual/domestic violence they experience

POITTICAL INTERSECTIONALITY

- Feminist movements have ignored how racism magnifies gender oppression
 - Discuss VAW against WOC, shift focus to how it happens to everyone, focuses mostly on white, middle-class women
 - Asian American women in interviews discussed how cultural values of placing the family before themselves led to a barrier in reaching out
- Anti-racist movements have ignored how sexism magnifies racial oppression
 - When discussing rape culture, may focus more on myth of Black male rapist which justified lynchings and mass incarceration
 - $\circ\,\,$ Ignore the experiences of WOC if their experiences could be used to perpetuate this myth
 - Black women have pressure to choose being a woman or Black → becomes an either/or conundrum

REPRESENTATIONAL INTERSECTIONALITY

- Images and critiques of images of WOC ignore interests of WOC
 → racial and sexual subordination reinforce each other
- Instrumentalization of WOC who face violence only to shift focus on White women who face violence
- Racist experiences understood through lens of a Black man;
 Sexist experiences understood through lens of a middle-class,
 White woman

MISOGYNOIR

- Term coined in 2000s by Dr. Moya Bailey
- "A particular brand of hatred directed at Black women in American visual and popular culture"

INTERSECTIONALITY

"There is no such thing as a single-issue struggle because we
do not live single-issue lives"- Audre Lorde, "Learning from
the 60s" in Sister Outsider: Essays and Speeches by Audre
Lorde

"WHITE PRIVILEGE: UNPACKING THE INVISIBLE KNAPSACK" EXERCISE MODULE 2: HISTORY OF ACTIVISM AND POLICIES AROUND SEXUAL VIOLENCE (1800s-1960s)

After this module, learners will be able to:

- 1. Describe major events related to anti-violence movement within time period
- Discuss national policies around sexual violence within time period
- Describe tensions within various feminist movements within time period
- 4. Recognize the contributions women of color have made to the field of anti-violence activism during this time period

FOUNDATION OF U.S. RAPF LAWS

- Sir Matthew Hale 1670s England chief Justice
 - Influenced Blackstone → foundation of U.S. common law
 - Rape and status of women → property violation
 - Marriage is permanent consent (cannot be retracted)
 - Set-up short statute of limitations
 - o Cited in U.S. courts up until 1993
- \bullet "Hale's instructions" \rightarrow Claims it is easy for women to "claim rape" but hard for men to defend themselves
 - o 60's + 70's → judges including this with instructions to juries

SEXUAL VIOLENCE WITHIN THE ANTEBELLUM PERIOD

- Slavery = common practice throughout the South; Black persons seen and treated as property
 - Black women raped by White slave owners
 - Raped to sustain practice of slavery → "produced" workforce
 - Trans-Atlantic slave trade is outlawed in 1808 (still roughly 4 million enslaved persons in U.S. at this time)
 - White terrorism against the Black family and Black masculinity as well
 - Black men unable to protect Black women from White men
 - Black women unable to give or retain consent or protect themselves

BLACK COMMUNITIES IN THE ANTEBELLUM PERIOD

- Not allowed to testify in court against White people or strike a White person (even in self-defense)
 - Murdering a slave was not treated as murder
 - o Raping a Black women (by non-slaveowner) treated as "trespassing"
 - a crime against slaveowner of the raped woman...not the woman
- Enslaved people not passive → resisted by slowing down workpace, destroying crops, faking illness, running away, developing strong communities with fellow slaves, revolting, secretly teaching each other how to read and write, etc.

THE ANTEBELLUM PERIOD: SLAVERY AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE

- Black women beaten, rented out for sex, traded, or given away
 White women reinforced White Supremacy as well
- Partus Sequitur Ventrum → makes child gain legal status of the mother → Black women bore slaves (regardless of paternity);
 White women bore free children

THE ANTEBELLUM PERIOD: WHITE AND BLACK WOMEN

- White women = purity; Black women = hypersexualized
 - Gain gender and racial privilege due to White Supremacy and perceived "genderlessness" of Black women (due to racism)
 - o On a pedestal b/c Black women treated and labeled "jezebels," impure, etc.
 - White men blamed behavior on promiscuity of the Black women they raped
 - \circ Black men not yet labeled as "sexual predators/threats" to White women's Purity \Rightarrow happens during Reconstruction when Black community gains agency...

SOJOURNER TRUTH (1797-1883)

- Born into slavery in NY, freed (1827) slavery abolished in NY
- Abolition, women's rights, civil rights
- Assisted runaway and freed slaves who came up North
- "Ain't I a Woman?" speech at Women's Rights Convention Convention in Akron, OH (1851)
 - o Disregard of Black women's issues in mainstream/White women's movement
- Women's Rights Convention in Silver Lake, Indiana (1858)
 - Accused of being a man in a dress → shows breasts to prove she is a woman

NATIVE AMERICAN WOMEN IN U.S. HISTORY

- Native American women systematically raped as a tool of colonialism and dehumanization during this time
 - o Entire communities of Native Americans massacred
 - \circ Native American women raped and murdered to attack population growth \Rightarrow Native American women of certain tribes who gave birth to mixed children from rape prohibited to marry and have children with Native American men
- Bodies are "othered" and objectified via White gaze

THE AMERICAN CIVIL WAR (1861-1865) + RECONSTRUCTION

- January 1st, 1863 → Emancipation Proclamation
 - o Slavery ended but racial discrimination and White Supremacy continue
- Not a single case of rape publicized during the Civil War
- Reconstruction period (1865-1877) → very violent period against Black communities
 - White mobs burned black churches and black homes
 - White mobs raped Black women as a form of White terrorism

THE KU KLUX KLAN AND INTERPERSONAL VIOLENCE

- Founded in 1866 (1 year after Civil War ends)
 - Raped Black women, murdered Black men, committed violence against Black communities and their property
- Myth of Black male rapist begins as Black communities gain political agency...hmm...
 - o Over 10,000 Black men lynched 3 decades after Civil War
 - o Most lynchings didn't include a rape accusation → all dissidents of racism
 - Black women also lynched (usually after being raped)
 - Logical gap that lynchings were in response to Black male rapists

MEMPHIS RIOTS OF 1866

- 3 day riot → Black women gang-raped by White mobs of policemen and civilians
 - o 75 people injured, 46 AA killed, at least 5 Black women raped
 - o Black women speak to Congress of this assault
 - o Not a single White man convicted

15TH AMENDMENT

- Granted Black men the right to vote
- Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan B. Anthony supported Black suffrage (if it included White women)
 - o Stop supporting Black liberation once 15th Amendment passes

1874-1898 WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN TEMPERANCE UNION(WTCU)

The largest + most influential women's organization of the time.

- Largely a Protestant, upper-class, White women's movement
 For social reform, the end of sexual violence, and eventually suffrage
- Temperance = vehicle to discuss DVSA
- For public education, suffrage, and prison reform (children and women allowed visitation of drunkard husbands and fathers)
 Argues all of these would help women fight for temperance
- Used racist rhetoric of Black men raping White women and Black families having too many children to push for abstinence

WTCU (CONT.)

- During this time, women unable to remove themselves and children from violent situations → seen as property
- 1889 → running nurseries, Sunday schools, homeless shelters, homes for women
 - o Working class women join movement as issues of class start to be recognized
 - Issues of race still ignored...

THE BLACK WOMEN'S ANTI-RAPE MOVEMENT

- Black women begin campaign against rape and against lynchings of Black men
 - o Black Women's Club Movement in 1890s
 - o Ida B. Wells, Anna Julia Cooper, Fannie Barrier, and other Black women
 - o National Coalition Against Domestic Violence
- 1896 → National Association for Colored Women (NACW)
 - o Mary Church Terrell

IDA B. WELLS (1862-1931)

- Teacher, activist, journalist
 - Women's rights, women's suffrage, civil rights
 - o Publishes and edits articles on racism
- 1884 → told to move to smoking cabin
 - o Thrown off train → hires a lawyer, writes article, sues railroad company
 - Wins case in 1884; TN Court of Appeals reverses ruling 1887 and makes Wells pay court costs
- "Southern Horrors: Lynch Law in All its Phases" pamphlet
 - o Investigative journalism → reveals majority of lynchings not about rape
 - Reveals Black men and White women mostly have consensual relations, unlike the rape of Black women by White men
- 1909 → One of founders of NAACP

MARY CHURCH TERRELL (1863-1954)

- Teacher, activist, writer
 - Women's suffrage, education, civil rights
- One of 1st Black woman with a college degree (Oberlin, 1884)
 - o Received master's from Oberlin in 1888
- 1st National Association for Colored Women (NACW) Pres. (1896)
 - o Established nurseries, daycares, orphan support
- 1896 → founded National Association for College Women → National Association for University Women (NAUW)
- 1895-1906 → D.C. Board of Education (1st AAW in U.S. on board)
- Black women's clubs
- Urged suffragettes to fight for suffrage of black women
- 1909 → One of founders of NAACP
- Marched and protested for desegregation into her 80s

1870'S SOCIAL PURITY MOVEMENT

- 1877 → WTCU begins to combat double standard of sexuality
 - o Committee for Work with Fallen Women → Department for Social Purity
 - Worked to strengthen rape laws
- 1895 → 20 states raise age of consent to 16
 - \circ Better protects girls who were sexually exploited
- Issues championed but Black women in segregated chapters
 - o Issues of race not addressed; racist rhetoric used around sexual violence

SO...WHITE SUFFRAGETTES...LET'S TALK ABOUT THIS

- National American Woman Suffrage Association (NAWSA) (1890)
- Argued White women's vote could cancel out "the Negro vote"
- Argued White women's vote could lead to temperance and purity
- Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan B. Anthony wanted to include Black women...until after Black men got the vote
 - o Only supported Black men's suffrage if all women included too
- NAWSA hesitant to include or work with black women's clubs
 - o Southern chapters of NAWSA push for White women's vote only

1913 SUFFRAGE PARADE IN D.C.

- 5,000 suffragettes march one day before Wilson's Inauguration
- Black women told to march in the back
 - o Ida refused to do so and slipped in with her state's delegation
 - Delta Sigma Theta Sorority of Howard University = only black women's group to march

19TH AMENDMENT

- 1920 → Women gain right to vote
 - White women and Black women done with tense coalition
 - Black women (and Black men) face a number of racist laws in next decade to restrict their accessibility to voting
 - White women do not work against this

WWII + GENDER ROLES

- White women join workforce to support wartime production
 - \circ WOC had been working and even main providers since 1800's
- Rosie the Riveter created
- Post-WWII, White women return to be homemakers and mothers
- WOC and working class women continue in workforce
 - o Sexual harassment, rape, and sexual assault from boss, foremen, etc.

1950's

- Time of high gender and racial inequality
 - Continuation of racist voting laws, segregation, attacks on Black communities, demobilization of Black veterans
 - 1930-1967 → 405/455 men executed for rape are Black men
 - Idea of (White) women as homemakers + mothers → White Purity continuation
 - WOC raising lots of White families' children → "Mamie" myth
 - Didn't have same opportunity to spend time with own children and families

MODULE 3: HISTORY OF ACTIVISM AND POLICIES AROUND SEXUAL VIOLENCE (1960s-PRESENT)

After this module, learners will be able to:

- Describe major events related to anti-violence movement within time period
- 2. Discuss national policies around sexual violence within time period
- Describe tensions within various feminist movements within time period
- 4. Recognize the contributions women of color have made to the field of anti-violence activism during this time period

FEMININE MYSTIQUE (1963), BETTY FRIEDMAN

- Cited as beginning of 2nd wave feminism
- Racist + Classist
 - White homemaking women's experiences = universal women's experience
 - Heteronormative premise → no room for LGBTQ experiences
- Called for White women to have professional opportunities
 - o Ignored who would be replacing White women in home maintenance (WOC)
 - \circ $\,$ Over $\ensuremath{\mbox{\sc dot}}$ of U.S. women in workforce at time of publication

"'THE NEGRO FAMILY: THE CASE FOR NATIONAL ACTION'" (1965), DANIEL PATRICK MOYNIHAN

- Changing societal ideas of racism as a result of biological difference → racism is a result of cultural difference
 - o Still promote and reinforce White Supremacist attitudes and values
- "Instability" of Black family = cause for racial inequality
 - o Divorces this of how racism created and reinforced this issue
 - Job discrimination, housing discrimination, institutional violence, educational discrimination

2ND WAVE FEMINISM

- 60s-90s anti-violence movement had more political and legal DVSA gains than 300 years before it
- Policy changes → rape shield laws, increased statutory limitations, marital rape legally recognized, etc.
 - o 60s-rape was still treated as a property crime (patriarchial framework)
- Increasing amount of funds and services for DVSA
 - o Crisis hotlines, counseling services, medical and legal advocacy

WHERE THE 2ND WAVE STARTED: THE 60'S

- Short statute of limitations (usually 1 year)
 - O Strict over fear of "false rape" or used for "upperhand" in divorce/custody
- Had to prove that survivor "fought off"/resisted perpetrator
 - o Double standard → don't have to prove resistance in other violent crimes
- Marital exemption laws → marital rape not recognized
- Allowed to bring up women's past sexual history
- Low amount of reporting and high attrition rate within courts
- Required corroboration of another person or physical evidence
 Undue burden on survivors because DVSA are very private crimes
- "He said, she said" trope unique to crimes of DVSA
 - \circ Gender exclusive and heteronormative \rightarrow excludes various survivors

Secondary Victimization: The way survivors were treated in courts

SECONDARY REVICTIMIZATION

- Survivors having to talk to police without an advocate
- Having to wait hours in hospitals (and pay large fees)
- Victim-blaming language within courts
- Past sexual and personal history under microscope to attack credibility

2ND WAVE FEMINISM/ANTI-RAPE MOVEMENT

- 60s and 70s → fueled largely by college students, the Civil Rights movement, and anti-Vietnam efforts
 - o Fought to increase statute of limitations
 - o Fought against victim-blaming language
 - o 36 rape statutes revised 1976-1978
 - WOC hesitant due to reliance on institutional changes and past and present institutional violence against COC and being raped by police
- 1970s → WOC organize + bring national attention to WOC (imprisoned + murdered) who defended selves from their rapists
 - o Inez Garcia, 1974
 - o Joanne Litte, 1975
 - o Yvonne Wanrow, 1976
 - Dessie Woods, 1976 → eventually freed in 1981

STRATEGIES OF ANTI-RAPE MOVEMENT

- Survivors confronting rapists with support group in public
- Descriptive lists of rapists published
- Self-defense classes
- TBTNs organized
- General distrust of police

FIRST RAPE CRISIS CENTERS (EARLY 70'S)

- 1972 → Berkeley, Chicago, Boston, Philadelphia
 - o Grassroots: By survivors, collectives of women, no outside funding
 - o Sometimes they had an official building, sometimes they did not
 - Decisions made by consensus; less hierarchical (pre-professionalization of rape crisis centers)
- Broke silence but mostly middle-class White women
 - Ignores and erases nuances of WOC's experiences, not only as survivors of sexual violence, but as survivors of daily racism
 - o Mainstream Rape Crisis movement seen as a White women's movement

TITLE IX

- 1972 U.S. federal government passed and enforced Title IX of the 1972 Higher Education Amendments:
 - "No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance."
 - o Gender inclusive? Kinda...
 - Originally didn't include sexual harassment + sexual assault as types of gender discrimination
- Know Your IX:

NATIONAL BLACK FEMINIST ORGANIZATION (NBFO) (1973)

- Racism and sexism in Leftist spaces
- Sexism in Black liberation spaces
- Racism in feminist spaces
- Against lesbian separatism of 2nd wave feminist movement
- Black women join together and make own spaces → won't compromise themselves for any movement
 - o Politics linked to their identity, lived experiences, and survival
 - o Their politics not to solely end oppression of others
 - Liberation of all = efforts against capitalism, imperialism, patriarchy, and racism

NBFO CHALLENGES

- Early tensions NBFO between straight women and lesbians → against lesbian separatism
 - \circ Class and political differences from this as well
- No race, class, gender, or heterosexual privilege to utilize for their movement
- Goal: Black women's liberation = liberation of all people

NBFO IN ACTION

- Consciousness raising → emotional support group → study group
 → goal of developing a Black feminist publication
- White women are responsible for dismantling racism within the mainstream/White feminist movement
 - o Black women will continue to keep them accountable

TENSIONS EXPOSED (LATE 70'S)

- WOC + allies → need anti-racism in mainstream movement
- Tensions: White feminism + Womanism/intersectional feminism

SEXUAL ASSAULT RESPONSE TEAMS (SART) (1976)

- First program developed in Memphis, TN
- Anti-rape allies + healtcare and legal advocates join forces
- Enhances DVSA legal and healthcare services (standardization)
- Later develop Sexual Assault Nurse Examination (SANE) training
 → initially voluntary
 - o States eventually pass legislation to create criteria for certification
 - o International Association of Forensic Nurses (IAFN) formalize SANE in 1996

THE COMBAHEE RIVER COLLECTIVE STATEMENT (1977-1979)

- Combahee River Collective → 1974, Black lesbian feminists
- Bring light to how racism, classism, homophobia, and sexism are intertwined
- If Black women are free, all women are free → we need Black feminism
 - \circ Origins of Black feminism are foundation of White heterpatriarchal U.S.A. \rightarrow story of Black women's struggle for survival
 - o Black women living within two vulnerable sociopolitical spaces
- Black, Third World, working women, and other WOC have always been in the feminist struggle
 - o Obstructed by racism, classism, and elitism

FIRST U.S. TBTN

- "Reclaim the Night," 1976, Belgium → women at International Tribunal on Crimes Against Women
- "Take Back the Night" → title of memorial written and read by Anne Pride in an anti-violence rally in Pittsburgh in 1977
- San Francisco: November 4th, 1978 → 5,000 women from 30 states
- 2nd TBTN → NYC, 1979
- Today TBTNs happen all over the world and on many campuses

1980s: ACADEMIC FEMINISM

- AAS and WGSS departments are established
- Anti-rape education spreads to universities
- Increased amount of feminist research on rape
 - o Rape myths challenged by increased research
- Debates on importance of language → victim vs. survivor
- Acquaintance rape recognized
- Recognition of extent of child rape and molestation

CRITIQUES OF ACADEMIC FEMINISM

- Favor individual achievement and originality
 - Tension with overall goals of collectivity and equality
- Lack of Praxis → Theory + Action
 - Strongly based in critique rather than critique + solutions
 - Not pressure or much room for applicability

RULE 412 (RAPE SHIELD LAW) (1978)

- Congress passes rape shield law → survivor's past sexual history is irrelevant to all criminal and civil rape cases
 - o Certain exceptions where it is deemed relevant
- Most controversial legislation passed in anti-violence movement
 - o Survivor's right to privacy and equal protection under the law
 - o Defendant's right to confront an accuser

ALEXANDER V. YALE (1980): SEXUAL HARASSMENT IS GENDER DISCRIMINATION

- 1980 Supreme Court case Alexander v. Yale
 - Supreme Court case, plaintiffs wanted a ruling which counted sexual harassment as a form of sexual discrimination and legislative ruling for institutions of higher education to have a reporting process

1980s: Institutional shifts

- Police depts. receive more training
- Hospitals develop special examination rooms
- Nurses trained for survivors (SANE)
- States begin cutting statute of limitations for DVSA
 - o 17 states eliminated entirely by 2014 (if DNA available at later time)
- 1984 → only 8 states still require corroboration; 2 of these only require this for statutory rape cases
- Requirement of proving resistance amended
 - \circ Shift in sociocultural understanding of DVSA \rightarrow power dynamics

DOE V. UNITED STATES (1981)

- 1981 → Accused has no right to bring up past irrelevant info to the case
 - Survivor's past sexual behaviors or reputation do not impact their right to consent or withhold consent
- Mid-80's → Most states have rape shield laws in place
 - Varying degrees
 - o Past info to discredit vs. "relevant" past info

1980s: BACKLASH

- Rise of writers challenging the validity of newly generated rape statistics
- Funding for rape crisis centers slows down
 - o Centers shift politics to the "center" to secure funding
 - o Professionalization of the centers
- Movement becomes more fragmented over racism, homophobia, transphobia, and classism

NATIVE AMERICAN WOMEN

- NAW's issues still ignored → less than 5% of DVSA are for NAW
 - o NAW twice as likely to experience a violent crime than other racial groups
 - 60% of perpetrators are White
 - Link between poverty and vulnerability to violence
 - High rates of poverty in NA communities (racism and colonialism)
 - High rates of DVSA
- "Custer's Revenge" (1989) → Players get points for raping a Native American women
 - o Trivialized ideas of colonialism, NAW's bodies, and NA issues

INDIGENOUS FEMINISM

- Intersectional feminist stance for traditional continuity and tribal sovereignty
- Need to challenge and work on undoing colonialism and cannot separate this from Native American women's issues

UNDOCUMENTED WOMEN

- Lured to U.S. with promise of jobs or marriages
 - o Dragged into sex trade or stuck in abusive relationships
- Fear of deportation and/or detention (if abuser is green card holder)
 - o Abused in detention centers with little ability to report
- Language barriers in some clinics
- Lack of adequate legal services and resources for undocumented women
- Mainstream/White anti-violence movement claim these are issues of immigration...not DVSA

ASIAN AMERICAN PACIFIC ISLANDER (AAPI) WOMEN

- AAPI women most likely to be assaulted a White perpetrator
- Cultural values: close family, harmony, and order
 - Don't decrease rates DVSA in communities
 - o Do minimize impact of experiences of DVSA in communities
- Undocumented issues and language barriers for some as well
- Abusive international marriages
- Higher rates of victim-blaming ideology than White persons

AAPI (CONT.)

- 41%-61% South Asian women experience physical and/or sexual violence by intimate partner in life
 - Highest of any racial group
- 56% of Filipinas + 64% of Indians and Pakistanis reported experiencing sexual violence in their lives
- AAPI women have lowest rates of HIV testing (17%)
 - o Only 5% suspected to be at risk get tested
- AAPI = highest amount of trafficked persons in U.S.
 - o 5,200-7,800 of 14,500-17,500 in 2004

MARITAL RAPE

- 90s research \rightarrow 10-14% wives are sexually assaulted by partner
 - \circ Antiquated marital exemption at foundation of U.S. common law
- 1975 → marital rape legal in all states
 - \circ South Dakota removes marital exemption
- Commonwealth v. Chretin (1981) → 1st marital rape conviction
- North Carolina = last state to recognize marital rape in 1993
- 2014 → half of states yet to completely remove marital exemption laws
- Still lots of exceptions (don't include drugging, unconsciousness, coercion, etc.)

WOC AT THE MARGINS

2nd wave → "It can happen to anyone narrative"

- o EVEN RICH, UPPER-CLASS WHITE WOMEN
 - Become center and focus of anti-violence anti-rape movement
- \circ Shift from racist/classist understanding \Rightarrow understanding of universal vulnerability of womanhood
 - Created false "unity" between women
 - Particularities of experiences WOC and low-income women face ignored
- o Reinforced inequalities and oppressions
- De-radicalized anti-violence movement → had opportunity to address racism and classism as well...

PROFESSIONALIZATION OF ANTI-VIOLENCE MOVEMENT

- Effects:
 - Led to widespread recognition of DVSA as a serious issue
 - Secured and increased state funding
 - De-radicalized the movement
 - White women still lead majority of rape crisis centers today as they had upperhand when "professionalization" of rape crisis centers began
- Requirement of advanced degrees for leadership positions within DVSA organizations...

1990'S: DEPOLITICIZATION

- Anti-movement becomes less political and radical
- More commonly understood idea of rape as an act of dominance → theoretical backing from 70's feminists
- National Coalition Against Sexual Assault (NCASA) and other coalitions set-up to the movement

CLERY ACT (1990): MANDATED REPORTING

- Jeanne Clery raped and murdered as a Freshman at Lehigh University by a classmate in 1986
- 40 violent crimes at LU 3 years before Jeanne is murdered
 - Parents state this information should be publicized so families can make informed college decisions
- 1990 Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act or Clery Act
 - o Amended Higher Education Act of 1965
 - Enforced a requirement for all institutions of higher education who have federal financial aid funds to issue annual security report, public crime log, and public crime statistics publicly

CLERY ACT AMENDMENTS, 1992-2008

- 1992 → ensures survivors are provided certain legal rights
- 1998 → expanded reporting requirements and named it formally after Jeanne
- 2000 + 2008 → increased protections for survivors against retaliation
 - \circ Registered sex offender notification + increased standards of campus emergency response

CRITICISMS OF THE CLERY ACT

- Enforces underreporting due to misrepresentation of this act by college campuses
 - Survivors, students, faculty, and staff concerned about student confidentiality

VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN ACT (1994)

- Advocates argue survivors shouldn't have to pay for forensic medical examination → wouldn't require a victim of a robbery to pay for evidence collection
- Requires states and local governmental agencies to pay for cost of forensic medical examinations → or would lose funding for these kits
 - States must prove funds to cover these costs existed

INSTITUTIONAL IMPROVEMENTS OF 2ND WAVE: FOR WHO?

- Improved social and legal services benefited middle-class and upper-class White women the most
 - Had accessibility to therapists, law enforcement officers, doctors, and criminal justice system
 - o Reliance and expansion on the State
- WOC bring up concerns about increased arrests, detentions, and prosecutions
 - \circ $\,$ Widely ignored by mainstream/White feminism $\,$
- Consequences of reliance on the State felt most by WOC and low-income communities
 - Heavier policing, mass incarceration, police brutality

WOMEN OF COLOR NETWORK (WOCN) (1997)

- Enhance and promote WOC leadership and advocates in US,
 Territories and Tribal nations to eliminate DVSA
- Challenge racism in DVSA movement pushing WOC out
 - WOC stereotyped as "aggressive" or "overly-questioning"
 - \circ Little institutional support within bureaucratic DVSA organizations for mentorship of WOC compared to WW
 - "Old girls network" → Majority of those who pushed for professionalization
 of the field have networks that provide more opportunities and support for
 those with shared identities (WW)
 - o WOC removed, forced resignation, quit due to hostile environment
- Fishbowl Effect: few WOC make it into these roles, when things fall through, other WOC see this and are discouraged

1ST CRITICAL RESISTANCE CONFERENCE (1998), BERKELEY, CA

- Organizers → WOC in prison abolition and DVSA movements
- 3,500 attendees → students, activists, professors, former prisoners, families, former political prisoners, etc.
- DVSA → Need to discuss seriously how women can be safe from DVSA in a world without prisons
 - Need to hold men who commit DVSA accountable
- Prison abolitionists/COC → critique "zero tolerance," mandatory arrests, increased sentencing, etc.
 - \circ Critique of DVSA movement's reliance on institutions and and prison systems \rightarrow affect WOC and COC the most
 - o Critique relying on a system that perpetrates violence to end violence

SOCIAL SHIFTS OF UNDERSTANDINGS OF SEXUAL VIOLENCE

- Opinion polls reveal acceptance of GBV declined considerably between 90s-2000
- "rape"/"carnal knowledge" → sexual assault
 - Allows for varying degrees of violence to be recognized
 - o Includes unwanted penetration via object
- Recognition of rape happening across power differentials
 - Workplace harassment
 - Racial terrorism
 - o Gender violence
- "It can happen to anyone" narrative → result of mainstream 2nd wave of feminism
 - o Shift from individualized experience allowed for populist mass movement
 - White women's experiences = universal experiences

DE JURE VS. DE FACTO

- National Crime Victimization Survey (1991) → survivors slightly more likely to report
- Sexual violence post anti-violence movement (1990-96) slightly more likely to be reported than pre-violence movement (1975)
- Legislation changes has not led to overall increase in convictions, arrests, or incarceration rates
- 2014 study → Many denounce rape but more acceptable attitudes towards "forceful intercourse"
 - More work to do on societal attitudes

COLOR OF VIOLENCE: VIOLENCE AGAINST WOC (2000), SANTA CRUZ, CA

- Over 1,500 Native American, African American, Latina, Asian, and women and men from all over the world
 - Many WOC from 80's and 90's feminist groups tired of GBV being only form of violence recognized in feminist spaces
 - o Discuss re-focusing the anti-violence movement
 - 1st national event with multi-ethnic/multi-racial group of activists and students and academics discuss and plan ways to address violence against WOC
- Andrea Smith → UCSC Professor and conference coordinator
 - o Economic, institutional, and state violence
 - White women who pretended to be Cherokee...more on that later

COLOR OF VIOLENCE CONFERENCE (CONT.)

"This has the potential to be revolutionary because it focuses on the larger picture--institutional, state, and economic violence--and also confronts personal violence within communities of color with grassroots political strategies. There's a tendency within the anti-violence movement to see the police, prisons, and the entire criminal justice system as the solution to sexual/domestic violence in a way that isn't critical of their roles in perpetrating violence against communities of color." - Andrea Smith, PhD, Conference Coordinator

- Foundation of Incite! Women of Color Against Violence
 - Union of WOC in DVSA and prison abolition movement
 - o Dedicated to challenging DVSA AND state violence

INCITE! WOMEN OF COLOR AGAINST VIOLENCE

- Grassroots rather than bureaucratic → local issues and bring lens from conferences and taskforces
- Critical Resistance-Incite! Statement → 6 WOC and 1 pro-feminist MOC all involved in prison abolition and/or DVSA movements for past two decades
 - o Disengagement with the State
 - DVSA need to rethink resources, relations with police, and services provided
 - National Coalition Against Domestic Violence signs on!!!
 - DVSA early activists defensive → required huge efforts to make legal and policy-based changes
 - \circ Early prison abolitionist who worked with imprisoned women \Rightarrow felt as if work had been disregarded or invisibilized

INCITE! + LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS

- Incite's Community Accountability Take Force
 - \circ Worked with local organizations \rightarrow Sista II Sista (NYC), Seattle's Communities Against Rape and Abuse
 - Assist communities create own models and interventions for DVSA

CENTRAL PARK FIVE CASE VACATED (2002)

- 1989 rape, assault, and sodomy of 28-year-old female jogger, Trisha Meili
 - o In coma from attack with no memory of details
- Racist rhetoric around the case
- Trump buys full-page ads for death penalty to be reinstated
- Antron McCray, Raymond Santana, Kevin Richardson, Yusef Salaam, and Korey Wise
 - o 14-16 at time of wrongful arrest
 - Coerced by law enforcement officials to admit guilt
 - Denied food, drink, and sleep for hours
 - No lawyers or parents or guardians present
 - o Wrongfully imprisoned until 2002 DNA evidence clears their names
 - Matias Reyes → serial rapist and murderer confesses of being sole perpetrator
 - o Wise spent 13 years in prison, other 4 spent 7 years in prison

CENTRAL PARK FIVE

WOCN 2007 RALLY

- Rally to support WOC advocates
- Begins dialogue between WOC in movements and programs
- 2007 national survey → 232 WOC respondents
 - o 38.6% accomplishments and skills are undervalued and/or uncompensated
 - $\circ~$ 39.6% privilege disregarded because those at top claimed to be anti-racist, culturally inclusive, etc.
 - o 44% lack of awareness how DVSA affects WOC and COC differently
 - o 74% racial make-up is mostly White
 - o Only 23.8% indicated they had a mentor in their org/movement
- Findings and rally → Issues of WOC in movement/org requires more attention

WOCN 2008 CALL TO ACTION

Insight on issues within DVSA organizations:

- Cultural ignorance → Using old language when referring to COC; lack of meal diversity for those with religious or cultural restrictions
- Discrimination → require women to come in person to be admitted (language barriers, citizenship ship status, etc.)
 - a. WOC sent to other clinics
- 3. Immigration/Language Barriers → Non-English or Limited English speaking women note impatience or lack of understanding
 - a. More complex legal cases
- 4. Lack of Responsibility \rightarrow Problematic White advocates claim ignorance or downplay issues WOC face
 - a. Send WOC to WOC advocates \rightarrow "serving their own" rather than WW learning to be culturally and racially competent

PUSHBACK FOR MORE RELIANCE ON LEGAL SYSTEMS

- Safe Campus Act → requires cases of sexual violence to go through legal system
- HB 51 → requires cases of sexual violence to go through legal system before punitive action may be taken on a college campus
 Tabled this year, done for this year

DEAR COLLEAGUE LETTER

BLACK LIVES MATTER (2012)

- Started after the murder of Trayvon Martin by George Zimmerman (acquitted) → 17-year-old Trayvon Martin put on trial (posthumously) for his own murder...
- 3 Black women: Alicia Garza, Patrisse Cullors, Opal Tometi
- "Chapter based national organization working for the validity of Black life."
- Restarted the organized Black liberation movement
- #SayHerName
- #BlackTransLivesMatter

BLM GOALS

- Against police and state violence as well as violence against Black communities by vigilantes
- Affirms lives of Black queer folk, trans folk, disables folk, undocumented folk, folks with a record, Black women and all those on the gender spectrum
- Black poverty and genocide = state violence
- Mass incarceration = state violence
- Black women and children feeling effects of Black men's incarceration = state violence
- Black queer folk and trans folk being fetishized and/or murdered = state violence
- Exploitation of Black girls during times of conflict, historic and present = state violence

2013 FBI RAPE ADDENDUM

• Changes definition of sexual violence

"Carnal knowledge of a female forcibly and against her will." \rightarrow "Penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the consent of the victim."

- 1. Takes away gender pronouns and heteronormativity of original definition
- 2. Penetration of any body part/orifice recognized as sexual violence
- 3. Physical force not a requirement for it to be sexual violence

GROWING COLLEGE CAMPUS + NATIONAL MOVEMENT

- Know Your IX
- Carry that Weight
- It's On Us
- Slutwalk
- Denim Day

TODAY...

- Concerns and dialogues today: Growing number of men in the movement and effects of this
- Rape as a solely political model → health model
- Still tensions between White Feminism +Trans Exclusive/Exterminatory Radical Feminism (TERF) vs. Intersectional Feminism

LONG WAYS TO GO...

- Effects of Myth of Black Male Rapist → MOC less likely to be believed as survivors (men in general less likely to be believed)
 - o MOC survivors less likely to report due to state violence COC and MOC face
- Islamaphobic stereotypes → violent men and "oppressed" women
 - \circ DVSA seen as a result of Islamic culture \rightarrow used to justify White Christian Supremacy
 - \circ $\,$ Muslim women who are survivors hesitant to report and reinforce stereotypes against their communities
- Stereotypes of Black and Latina hypersexuality → "asking for it"
- Stereotypes of AAPI women as passive → victim-blaming, "need to stick up for selves"
- Stereotypes of AAPI men as effeminate → less likely to be seen as perpetrators

LIKE, REALLY LONG WAYS TO GO...

- WOC on public assistance → issues of housing, poverty, self-preservation, etc. when trying to leave abusive situation
- Undocumented survivors less likely to report in fear of deportation, detention, etc.
- Culturally relevant and multi-lingual models and services needed
- Need less heteronormative and gender-exclusive discussion about rape culture

THE MARCH ON WASHINGTON

- Things that went well:
- Things that did not:
- Why we Need to Talk about White Feminism:

ERA OF TRUMP

- Accused by double digits of women of sexual assault
- "Grab them by the pussies"
- Stock massive increase in private prison stock bonds the day after election night
- So many, many other things...

MODULE 4: SUMMARIZATION AND APPLICATION OF 201 PT. 1

After this module, learners will be able to:

- Apply intersectional lens of sexual violence to everyday activism
- 2. Discuss nuances and tensions within allyship
- 3. Understand accountability

THE RAPE CRISIS MOVEMENT: A STORY OF MANY NEGATIVE -ISMS

"Black in a White society, slave in a free society, woman in a society ruled by men, female slaves had the least formal power and were perhaps the most vulnerable group of Americans." - Dr.

Deborah Gray White

- The Rape Crisis Movement pre-dates the 2nd wave of U.S. feminism
 - It is a history of colonialism, racism, sexism and long-winded resistance and perseverance in communities of color

SO.... HOW DO WE ACTUALLY USE THIS INFO?

We've covered a lot of history and now we know where the anti-violence movement has short-changed WOC in the past and how those failings persist today.

Now let's learn how to advocate effectively with an intersectional lens

ANALYZING RAPE CULTURE WITH AN INTERSECTIONAL LENS

- Project Unspoken: Rape Culture:
- Things that went well:
- Things that did not go well:

EXCLUSION VS. TOKENIZATION

- Issue: Lack of opportunities or hostile environment
 - WOC don't feel welcome
- Issue: Hiring WOC as "representatives" of their community
 - \circ WOC are tokenized \rightarrow NOT how you build coalitions
 - o Putting bilingual/bicultural WOC with immigrant or monolingual groups
 - Stuck in low-level jobs in org unless they receive more education (problems of cost, access, etc.)
 - Not okay to assume or label peoples' experiences or identities based off of stereotypes

THE AMBIGUITY OF LANGUAGE

- Open statement about framework of an organization can be helpful → adds accountability
 - Without it POC may assume it is another White feminist organization
- However, language can be just words if leadership is not committed...
 - Walk+Talk

SPEAKING ON BEHALF OF OTHERS...

- The issue of speaking on behalf of others → reinforces
 -isms
 - "Those who have the most experience with a certain -ism are the ones getting the least amount of space"-Dennis Kamara

"Lost Voices:"

• Thoughts?

ALLYSHIP (THE VERB)

5 Tips for Being an Ally:

- Intent vs. Effect
- Accountability
- Humility
- Making space, not taking up space
- You will get things wrong → treat it as a learning lesson
- Other suggestions?

INTENT VS. IMPACT

Andrea Smith

Rachel Dolezal

Adele's 2017 Grammy Speech

SO WHAT NOW?

- Paradigm shift or those who are at most vulnerable sociopolitical locations will continue to be compromised
 - o De-centralizing the reliance on law enforcement for DVSA
 - o WOC have been advocating for this shift since the 90's
- DVSA cannot be separated from history of U.S. racism and colonialism

MODULE 5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS (TBC)

- 1. Interpersonal Violence and LGBTQ Communities
- 2. Toxic Masculinities
- 3. Ableism and Interpersonal Violence

REFERENCES

Amar, A. F. 2008. "African-American college women's perceptions of resources and barriers when reporting forced sex." Journal of National Black Nurses Association 19:35–41.

Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence. n.d. "Statistics on Violence Against API Women." Retrieved January 13th, 2017 (http://www.api-gbv.org/resources/violence-against-api-women.php).

Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence. July 2016. "HIV, IPV, and Asian American Pacific Islander Women & Girls." Retrieved January 13th, 2017 (http://www.api-abv.org/issues/hiv-aids.php).

Campbell, Rebecca. 2006. "Rape Survivors" Experiences with Legal and Medical Systems: Do Rape Victim Advocates Make a Difference?" Violence Against Women 12(1): 30-45. Retrieved October 3rd, 2016 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16314660).

Campney, Brent M.P. 2015. "Chapter 6: The Life of No Colored Man is Safe." 132-155 in This is Not Dixie: Racist Violence in Kansas, 1861-1927. University of Illinois Press. Retrieved November 20th 2016

(https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page_scan_tab_contentshttps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentshtps://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt16bxwq0.117Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D6&seq=22#page scan_tab_contentsht.pdf.

Cantor, D., B. Fisher, S. Chibnall, R. Townsend, H. Lee, C. Bruce, & G. Thomas. 2015. Report on AAU Campus Climate Survey on Sexual Assault and Sexual Misconduct. The Association of American Universities. Rockville, MD: Westat. Retrieved November 13th, 2016 (https://www.aau.edu/Climate-Survey.aspx?id=16525).

Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1989. Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf).

Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1991. "Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color" Stanford Law Review 43:1241

Davis, Angela Y. 1972. "Reflections on the Black Woman's Role in the Community of Slaves." *The Massachusetts Review* 13(½): 81-100. Accessed January 8th, 2017 (http://www.bowdoin.edu/news/events/archives/images/Community%20of%20Slaves.pdf)

Davis, Angela Y. 1981. "Rape, Racism and the Capitalist Setting." The Black Scholar (12)6: 39-45. Web. (https://www.jstor.org/stable/41066856?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents)

REFERENCES (CONT.)

Lee, J., E.C. Pomeroy, S. K. Yoo, & K. T. Rheinboldt. 2005. "Attitudes Towards Rape: A Comparison between Asian and Caucasian College Students." Violence Against Women 11(2): 177-196. Retrieved November 5th, 2016 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16043546).

Lerner, Gerda, ed. 1972. Black Women in White America: A Documentary History. New York City, NY: Vintage Books.

Lorde, Audre. 1982. "Learning from the 60s" Audre, Lorde, Sister Outsider: Essays & Speeches by Audre Lorde (Berkeley: Crossing Press, 2007), 134-144.

Maier, S. L. 2012. "Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners' Perceptions of the Influence of Race and Ethnicity on Victims' Responses to Rape."Feminist Criminology 8(2): 67-86. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://iournals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1557085112454190).

National Women's History Museum. 2007. "African American Women and Suffrage." Retrieved January 21, 2016 (https://www.nwhm.org/online-exhibits/rightsforwomen/AfricanAmericanwomen.html)

N.a. 2015. "When Gender and Race Collide, it's "Misogynoir"." WITW Staff: NYTimes. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://nytlive.nytimes.com/womenintheworld/2015/10/07/when-discrimination-of-race-and-gender-collide-its-misogynoir/)

N.a. N.d. "Communities of Color and the Impacts of Sexual Violence." Sexual Assault and Prevention Awareness Center: University of Michigan. Accessed March 26, 2017 (https://sapac.umich.edu/article/57).

N.a. 2017. The Second Report of the White House Task Force to Protect Students from Sexual Assault. The White House. Washington, D.C.: The White House. Retrieved January 28th, 2017 (https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Documents/1.4.17.VAW%20Event.TF%20Report.PDF).

Palacios, Lena. 2016 Girlhood and the Politics of Place. Berghahn Books. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt14jxn16.21).

PBS N.D. "Conditions of Antebellum Slavery (1830-1860)" PBs. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/aia/part4/4p2956.html).

Richie, Beth E. 2000. "A Black Feminist Reflection on the Antiviolence Movement." Signs 23 (4):1133-1137. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/3175500)

REFERENCES CONT.

Rushin, Kate. 1981. "The Bridge Poem." Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://katerushinpoet.com/poem3.html).

Self, Robert O. 2013. "Bodies Count: The Sixties Body in American Politics." 239-269 in The Long 1968: Revisions and New Perspectives. Indiana University Press. Retrieved October 28th, 2016

(https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt16gzk03.13?Search=yes&resultItemClick=true&&searchUri=%2Ftopic%2Fviolence-against-women%2F%3Fpage%3D4&seq=21#page_scan_tab_contents).

Smith, Andrea & Luana Ross. 2004. "Introduction: Native Women and State Violence." Social Justice 31(4):1-7. Accessed March 1st, 2017 (https://www.socialjusticejournal.org/SJEdits/98Edit.html)

Smith, Andrea. 2008. "American Studies without America: Native Feminisms and the Nation-State." American Quarterly: 309-315. Accessed February 2nd, 2017 (http://pages.ucsd.edu/~rfrank/class_web/ES-200A/Week%207/60.2.smith01.pdf)

Smith, Andrea. 2011-12. "Decolonizing Anti-Rape Law and Strategizing Accountability in Native American Communities." Social Justice 37(4): 36-43. Accessed February 13th, 2017 (https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/41478932.pdf)

Sudbury, Julia C. 2003. "Toward a Holistic Anti-Violence Agenda: Women of Color as Radical Bridge-Builders." Social Justice 30 (3):134-140. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/29768214).

Truth, Sojourner. 1851. "Ain't I A Woman?" Akron, OH:Women's Convention. Accessed March 26, 2017 (http://www.sojournertruth.com/p/aint-i-woman.html).

Wiggins, Jennifer. 1983. "Rape, Racism, and the Law." Harvard Women's Law Journal 6: 103-141. Retrieved January 5th, 2017 (http://digitalcommons.mainelaw.maine.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1042&context=faculty-publications)

Women of Color Network. 2013. "Women of Color Leadership: A Look at the Experiences of Women of Color Executives in the Anti-Violence Against Women's Movement." Ms. Foundation for

Zimmerman, E. 2016. "Campus sexual assault: A timeline of major events." The New York Times . Accessed March 26, 2017 (https://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/23/education/campus-sexual-assault-atimeline-of-major-events.html).

Images from SAPA 201 pt. 1 Curriculum have been removed to respect and adhere to copyright laws.

Appendix B: Pre-To	est Surve	y			
First Name:					
Last Name:					
Email Address:					
Class Year:					
Gender Identity:					
Race (select all that	apply):	African American/I	Black	AAPI	Native American
Latinx	White	Hispanic		Mixed Race	Other
SAPA Trained:	yes	no			
SAPA Advocate (tra	nined + in	iterview):	yes	no	
SAPA Peer Facilitat	or:	yes	no		
SAPA Exec:	yes	no			
How did you hear al	oout the 2	201 Launch:			
		tement and answer to e of 1-7 (1 = no cont			of familiarity with each very confident):
1. I feel confide	ent in hov	v to recognize situat	ions of se	exual	
violence:					

2.	I feel confident in how to assess situations of sexual
	violence:
3.	I feel confident in how to recognize situations of
	racism:
4.	I feel confident in how to assess situations of
	racism:
5.	I feel confident in my abilities to empower
	survivors:
6.	I feel confident in my ability to explain what intersectionality
	is:
7.	I feel confident in my understanding of how forms of violence are connected:
8.	I feel confident in my ability to analyze situations with an intersectional lens:
9.	I feel confident in my ability to apply intersectionality to my everyday
	activism/advocacy:
10.	I feel confident in my ability to discuss the nuances of
	allyship:
11.	I feel confident in my understanding of
	accountability:
12.	I feel confident in my ability to describe fundamental forms of oppression:
13.	I feel confident in my abilities to describe major events related to the anti-violence
	movement from the 1800s-1960s:
14.	I feel confident in my abilities to discuss national policy changes related to violence from
	the 1800s-1960s:

15. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss major tensions within the anti-violence
movement from the 1800s-1960s:
16. I feel confident in my knowledge of the contributions Women of Color (WOC) have
made during the anti-violence movement from the 1800s-
1960s:
17. I feel confident in my abilities to describe major events related to the anti-violence
movement from the 1960s-present:
18. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss major tensions within the anti-violence
movement from the 1960s-present:
19. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss national policy changes related to violence from
the 1960s-present:
20. I feel confident in my knowledge of the contributions Women of Color (WOC) have
made during the anti-violence movement from the 1960s-present:

Appendix C: Post-T	est Surv	rey			
First Name:					
Last Name:					
Email Address:					
Class Year:					
Gender Identity:					
Race (select all that	apply):	African American/B	lack	AAPI	Native American
Latinx	White	Hispanic		Mixed Race	Other
SAPA Trained:	yes	no			
SAPA Advocate (tra	ined + ir	nterview):	yes	no	
SAPA Peer Facilitat	or:	yes	no		
SAPA Exec:	yes	no			
How did you hear ab	out the 2	201 Launch:			
		ntement and answer by le of 1-7 (1 = no confi			of familiarity with each very confident):
		nt in how to recognize			,
violence.		J			

2.	I feel confident in how to assess situations of sexual
	violence:
3.	I feel confident in how to recognize situations of
	racism:
4.	I feel confident in how to assess situations of
	racism:
5.	I feel confident in my abilities to empower
	survivors:
6.	I feel confident in my ability to explain what intersectionality
	is:
7.	I feel confident in my understanding of how forms of violence are connected:
8.	I feel confident in my ability to analyze situations with an intersectional lens:
9.	I feel confident in my ability to apply intersectionality to my everyday
	activism/advocacy:
10.	. I feel confident in my ability to discuss the nuances of
	allyship:
11.	. I feel confident in my understanding of
	accountability:
12.	. I feel confident in my ability to describe fundamental forms of oppression:
13.	. I feel confident in my abilities to describe major events related to the anti-violence
	movement from the 1800s-1960s:
14.	. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss national policy changes related to violence from
	the 1800s-1960s:

15. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss major tensions within the anti-violence
movement from the 1800s-1960s:
16. I feel confident in my knowledge of the contributions Women of Color (WOC) have
made during the anti-violence movement from the 1800s-
1960s:
17. I feel confident in my abilities to describe major events related to the anti-violence
movement from the 1960s-present:
18. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss major tensions within the anti-violence
movement from the 1960s-present:
19. I feel confident in my abilities to discuss national policy changes related to violence from
the 1960s-present:
20. I feel confident in my knowledge of the contributions Women of Color (WOC) have
made during the anti-violence movement from the 1960s-present:
Free-Response Section
Please list your three favorite parts of SAPA 201:
Please list three things that you think went well with SAPA 201:
Please list your three least favorite parts of SAPA 201:
Please list three things you think could be improved on:

Please list a	anv parts	of SAPA 201	vou found	unnecessary	/:
---------------	-----------	-------------	-----------	-------------	-----------

Please list any things you	wish had	been included	l in SAPA	201 but was not
----------------------------	----------	---------------	-----------	-----------------

Would you recommend SAPA 201 to a peer? Yes No

Would you be interested in taking SAPA 201 pt. 2 based off of your experience with SAPA 201

pt. 1? Yes No

Other Comments/Suggestions/Thoughts:

Appendix D: Invisible Knapsack Activity List

- 1. I can, if I wish, arrange to be in the company of people of my race most of the time.
- 2. If I should need to move, I can be pretty sure of renting or purchasing housing in an area that I can afford and in which I would want to live.
- 3. I can be pretty sure that my neighbors in such a location will be neutral or pleasant to me.
- 4. I can go shopping alone most of the time, pretty well assured that I will not be followed or harassed.
- 5. I can turn on the television or open to the front page of the paper and see people of my race widely represented.
- 6. When I am told about our national heritage or about "civilization," I am shown that people of my color made it what it is.
- 7. I can be sure that my children will be given curricular materials that testify to the existence of their race.
- 8. If I want to, I can be pretty sure of finding a publisher for this piece on white privilege.
- 9. I can go into a music shop and count on finding the music of my race represented, into a supermarket and find the staple foods that fit with my cultural traditions, into a hairdresser's shop and find someone who can deal with my hair.
- 10. Whether I use checks, credit cards, or cash, I can count on my skin color not to work against the appearance of financial reliability.
- 11. I can arrange to protect my children most of the time from people who might not like them.
- 12. I can swear, or dress in second-hand clothes, or not answer letters without having people attribute these choices to the bad morals, the poverty, or the illiteracy of my race.
- 13. I can speak in public to a powerful male group without putting my race on trial.
- 14. I can do well in a challenging situation without being called a credit to my race.
- 15. I am never asked to speak for all the people of my racial group.
- 16. I can remain oblivious of the language and customs of persons of color, who constitute the world's majority, without feeling in my culture any penalty for such oblivion.
- 17. I can criticize our government and talk about how much I fear its policies and behavior without being seen as a cultural outsider.

- 18. I can be pretty sure that if I ask to talk to "the person in charge" I will be facing a person of my race.
- 19. If a traffic cop pulls me over, or if the IRS audits my tax return, I can be sure I haven't been singled out because of my race.
- 20. I can easily buy posters, postcards, picture books, greeting cards, dolls, toys, and children's magazines featuring people of my race.
- 21. I can go home from most meetings of organizations I belong to feeling somewhat tied in rather than isolated, out of place, outnumbered, unheard, held at a distance, or feared.
- 22. I can take a job with an affirmative action employer without having coworkers on the job suspect that I got it because of race.
- 23. I can choose public accommodation without fearing that people of my race cannot get in or will be mistreated in the places I have chosen.
- 24. I can be sure that if I need legal or medical help my race will not work against me.
- 25. If my day, week, or year is going badly, I need not ask of each negative episode or situation whether it has racial overtones.
- 26. I can choose blemish cover or bandages in "flesh" color that more or less match my skin.

Tables and Figures

Characteristics	S			
Gender				
	%	N		
Woman	81.8%	9		
Man	18.2%	2		
Trans/Queer/Non-Binary	0.0%	0		
Race				
African American/Black	36.4%	4		
Asian American Pacific Islander	27.3%	3		
Latinx	0.0%	0		
Hispanic	0.0%	0		
Native American/Indigenous	0.0%	0		
Mixed Race	9.1%	1		
White	27.3%	3		
Experience with SA	APA			
None	36.4%	4		
SAPA 101	63.6%	7		
SAPA Advocate	18.2%			
Peer facilitator	18.2%	2		
Executive Board member	18.2%	2		
Year in School				
First-year	0.0%	0		
Second-Year	9.1%	1		
Third-Year	45.50%	5		
Fourth-Year	45.50%	5		

Table 2. Pretest, posttest, and change in confidence scores by question, question type, and total

average score.						
Question	Pretest Mean score	Posttest Mean score	Change in Mean score			
Sexual Violence						
I feel confident in my abilities to	_					
recognize situations of sexual violence	5.55	5.91	0.36			
assess situations of sexual violence	4.82	5.64	0.82			
empower survivors	5.00	5.41	0.41			
Mean for Question Type	5.12	5.65	0.53			
Racism						
I feel confident in my abilities to						
recognize situations of racism	5.77	6.18	0.41			
assess situations of racism	5.55	6.00	0.45			
Mean for Question Type	5.66	6.09	0.43			
Intersectionality						
I feel confident in my abilities to						
explain intersectionality	5.73	6.32	0.59			
understand how forms of violence are connected	5.18	6.09	0.91			
analyze situations with an intersectional lens	5.14	6.23	1.09			
apply intersectionality to everyday activism/advocacy	4.91	6.32	1.41			
describe fundamental forms of oppression	5.00	6.05	1.05			
Mean for Question Type	5.19	6.20	1.01			
Allyship						
I feel confident in my abilities to						
discuss nuances of allyship	4.82	5.91	1.09			
understand accountability	5.18	5.77	0.59			
Mean for Question Type	5.00	5.84	0.84			
1800s-1960s: Legal and political history	_					
I feel confident in my abilities to						
describe major events related to the anti-violence movement during this era (1800s-1960s)	2.27	5.00	2.73			
discuss national policy changes related to violence during this era (1800s-1960s)	2.36	5.27	2.91			
discuss the major tensions within the movement during this era (1800s-1960s)	2.45	5.45	3.00			

understand and recognize women of colors' contributions during this era (1800s-1960s)	2.36	5.55	3.19
Mean for Question Type	2.36	5.32	2.96
1960s-Present: Legal and political history			
I feel confident in my abilities to			
describe major events related to the anti-violence movement during this era (1960s-present)	3.09	5.36	2.27
discuss national policy changes related to violence during this era (1960s-present)	2.95	5.59	2.64
discuss the major tensions within the movement during this era (1960s-present)	2.64	5.27	2.63
understand and recognize women of colors' contributions during this era (1960s-present)	2.73	5.55	2.82
Mean for Question Type	2.85	5.44	2.59
Total Score	83.41	114.84	31.43